

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

Strategies for Real Estate Professionals to Compete With Internet Organizations

Jennifer Dorwart Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Advertising and Promotion Management Commons, Finance and Financial

Management Commons, and the Marketing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jennifer Dorwart

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Diane Dusick, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Craig Martin, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Reginald Taylor, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2016

Abstract

Strategies for Real Estate Professionals to Compete With Internet Organizations

by

Jennifer J. Dorwart

MBA, Chadron State College, 2007 BA, Chadron State College, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2016

Abstract

There has been slow growth among traditional residential real estate organization managers to communicate among the real estate industry successful e-commerce strategies. Grounded in diffusion of innovation theory, the purpose of this descriptive case study was to explore strategies traditional residential real estate managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate managers. The study population comprised traditional real estate office managers in western Nebraska who had at least 5 years' experience in developing successful e-commerce strategies and had sold a home in the past 5 years. I conducted a thematic analysis on the data collected via semistructured interviews and company documents. Four themes emerged from the analysis, including establishing and maintaining multiple e-commerce websites, regularly monitoring websites, establishing a visible presence on multiple e-commerce websites, and preparation to evolve as technology evolves. The study's implications for positive social change include the potential for traditional residential real estate organization managers' to develop and use new and useful strategies for overcoming barriers and effectively competing with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain competitive in the local economy through job creation, innovation, and competitiveness to sustain their businesses

Strategies for Real Estate Professionals to Compete With Internet Organizations

by

Jennifer J. Dorwart

MBA, Chadron State College, 2007 BA, Chadron State College, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2016

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my husband, Dan, for pushing me to complete this degree. You have been my rock, motivator, supporter, and calming influencer throughout this bumpy process. I am forever grateful for your patience, understanding, and assistance with the housework and children while I sat in front of a computer for hours on end. Also to our children, Marion and Preston, may you never stop dreaming, playing, and learning. Mama's computer is closed, let the fun begin! Finally, to my parents, especially my father, Dr. Rick Koza. I am in constant awe of your dedication to teaching others and your love for learning. You both exemplify determination and I thank you for your support and demonstrating a drive to always work harder and achieve more.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank my chair, Dr. Dusick, and the second committee member, Dr. Craig Martin. Their support and guidance through the DBA process was invaluable and I am honored to have been given the opportunity to work with them.

A special thank you to Dr. Dusick for taking me under her wing in Atlanta. We met when I was frustrated, confused, emotional, and 6 months pregnant. I was close to walking away from it all but chose to sit at your table. Working with you has been a dream come true and I owe a great deal of gratitude to you for your patience, expertise, and assistance through the doctoral study process. I wouldn't have finished without you!

Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
Value of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practices	10
Implications for Social Change	11
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Diffusion of Innovation.	13

Summary of Literature on Diffusion of Innovation Theory	17
Issues Facing Traditional Residential Real Estate Organization Managers	22
Benefits of E-commerce in the Real Estate Industry	27
Trends in Utilization of E-commerce Competitive Strategies	33
Internet and E-commerce Usage among Real Estate Professionals	39
Transition	51
Section 2: The Project	53
Purpose Statement	53
Role of the Researcher	54
Participants	55
Research Method and Design	56
Research Method	56
Research Design.	57
Population and Sampling	59
Ethical Research	61
Data Collection Instruments	62
Data Collection Technique	64
Data Organization Technique	66
Data Analysis	67
Reliability and Validity	70
Reliability	70

Validity (Contextual)	71
Dependability	72
Credibility	73
Transferability	74
Confirmability	74
Saturation	75
Transition and Summary	75
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	77
Introduction	77
Presentation of the Findings	77
Key Words	77
Theme 1: Establish and Maintain Multiple E-commerce Websites	78
Theme 2: Regularly Monitor Websites for Buyers, Sellers, and	
Competitors	80
Theme 3: Establish a Visible Presence on Multiple E-commerce Websites	82
Theme 4: Be Prepared to Evolve as Technology Evolves	83
Applications to Professional Practice	85
Implications for Social Change	86
Recommendations for Action	86
Recommendations for Further Research	87
Reflections	89

Summary and Study Conclusions	90
References	91
Appendix A: Invitation and Consent Form	114
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	117
Appendix C: Invitation Letter	118
Appendix D: Interview Questions	119

List of Tables

Table 1. Percentage of Participants Mentioning Daily Use and Maintenance of Va	arious
Websites	80

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

In this section, I will provide an overview of the existing business problem and the method I used to explore how some traditional residential real estate organization managers develop strategies to compete effectively with e-commerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability. I will also present a critical review of the professional literature pertaining to the study problem that justifies the need for new research in this area. Lastly, I will address the potential contribution my study has to positive social change in small firms, their communities, and the economy as a whole.

Background of the Problem

Real estate professionals continue to gain presence online, but competition from independent user-friendly websites that allow owners to create marketing materials and list the property as *For Sale by Owner* has slowed the progress (Richardson & Zumpano, 2012). Scholars such as Richardson and Zumpano (2012) and Yuan, Lee, Kim, and Kim (2013) studied search behavior and addressed the effect of Internet activity on home sales. The search behavior patterns they found improved efficiency in online real estate websites and the patterns identified could be used for purposes of developing a guide for real estate professional use in e-commerce strategies (Yuan et al., 2013).

The importance of maintaining an online presence is vital to the longevity of traditional real estate professionals (Yuan et al., 2013). Implementing information systems designed with a specific organizational, social, or economic purpose, are more beneficial to all users and individuals involved in the setting (Chatterjee, Merhout,

Sarker, & Lee, 2013). Effective strategies for traditional residential real estate organization managers to implement in order to compete with e-commerce real estate remain ever-changing due to advancements in technology and additional competitors (Chatterjee et al., 2013).

Traditional residential real estate organization managers might not have the ability to compete with e-commerce real estate websites. Real estate professionals succumb to the pressure to compete and remain innovative with new strategies (Love, Goh, Hogg, Robson, & Irani, 2011). Therefore, it was necessary to explore the strategies traditional residential real estate organization managers could implement to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations.

Problem Statement

Home sales in cities with high Internet search traffic for real estate were higher than sales in cities with less search activity by an average of 8.5% (Beracha & Wintoki, 2013). When deciding to purchase a new home, 88% of individuals (an increase of 14% since 2010) used online searches when researching the real estate market (Yuan et al., 2013). The general business problem I focused on with this study was competition for home sales from e-commerce residential real estate organizations poses increasing risks to the sustainability and profitability of traditional residential real estate organization managers (Yuan et al., 2013). The specific business problem was some traditional residential real estate organization managers do not have strategies to compete effectively with e-commerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, descriptive case study was to explore strategies that some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable. The study population consisted of both male and female traditional real estate office managers in western Nebraska, who were at least 25 years old, and with at least 5 years' experience in developing strategies to address the online agencies in the real estate industry. The real estate professional participants also must have had sold a home in the past 5 years. In this study, successful traditional residential real estate organization managers provided insight on sustaining profitability, and thereby, contribute to the prosperity of their employees, families, the local economy, and social change.

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study involved a qualitative research method to discover strategies that some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable. I chose a qualitative, descriptive case study design to explore and analyze the factors that characterized a specific phenomenon, identifying relevant details pertaining to the participants' lived experiences (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). Qualitative research allows for a better understanding of a situation in the form of words and pictures, rather than numbers (Merriam, 2014). An alternative method for my study would have been quantitative research. A quantitative method was not appropriate since the intent of the

study was not to examine or measure relationships and differences using statistical data (Taylor & Hignett, 2014). A mixed methods approach is exploratory and confirmatory in design, encompassing both qualities of qualitative and quantitative (Taylor & Hignett, 2014). I did not chose mixed methods because I sought to gain a better understanding of the participants experiences. The rationale for using a quantitative research approach was to gain a more in-depth understanding of the relationships and effects of key factors behind a problem (Taylor & Hignett, 2014). I chose a qualitative method because I sought to gain an understanding of the strategies enabling real estate managers to remain competitive.

For this study, I chose a qualitative, descriptive case study design. A descriptive case study design provided a comprehensive summary of an event in the everyday terms (Sandelowski & Leeman 2012). Employing a descriptive case study provides researchers with an accurate accounting of individuals' experiences related to the same event (Maxwell, 2012). Language is the mode of communication in qualitative descriptive studies versus reading an interpretive structure (Maxwell, 2012). Researchers use a qualitative descriptive case study to seek the meanings participants give to their experiences, to characterize the facts, and communicate those facts in a coherent and useful manner (Sandelowski & Leeman 2012). I explored the experiences of traditional residential real estate organization managers and the competitive strategies they develop and implement to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations.

Other options of research designs for my study included an ethnographic or phenomenological design. Ethnographic researchers observe and interview participants over an extended period of time (Yin, 2013). A researcher conducting a phenomenological study explores the factors that surround a specific phenomenon, identifying relevant details pertaining to the participants' lived experience (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). The views of an individual give insight to the perspective and actions, but do not provide a full picture of the phenomenon or key strategies (Marshall & Rossman 2014).

Research Question

One primary research question guided the study: What strategies do some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you implemented to compete with the increase in ecommerce real estate websites?
- 2. How did you implement the strategies?
- 3. What barriers did you encounter in implementing the strategies?
- 4. How were you able to address the barriers?
- 5. How do you measure the success of your strategies to address competition from the real estate websites?

6. Do you have anything to add about strategies to compete effectively with ecommerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability?

Conceptual Framework

Rogers's (1995) diffusion of innovations theory comprised the conceptual framework for the study. Rogers created the diffusion of innovation theory in 1962. The diffusion of innovations theory classified adopters of products and services into the five categories of (a) innovators, (b) early adopters, (c) early majority, (d) late majority, and (e) laggards (Rogers, 1995). The four main elements of the diffusion of innovations theory are (a) innovation, (b) communication channels, (c) time, and (d) a social system (Rogers, 1995). Diffusion of innovations theory involves communication of innovation by members of a social system through various channels over time (Rogers, 1995).

Diffusion of innovation theory provided me with a foundation to investigate and gain understanding of the reasoning behind an increase in use of independent real estate websites. The application of diffusion of innovations theory allowed me to investigate the data gathered in the study. The information gathered was used to determine the effective strategies that traditional residential real estate organization managers could implement to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations.

Operational Definitions

The following terms were relevant to this doctoral study:

Digital marketing: Digital marketing encompasses targeted, measurable, wireless communications, and interactive marketing activities along with Internet marketing (IM) channels (Li, Li, He, Ward, & Davies, 2011).

Electronic business (e-business): E-business is delivering valuable products and services to customers using the Internet (Theodosiou & Katsikea, 2012).

Electronic commerce (e-commerce): E-commerce is the sale or purchase of goods and services between the businesses, households, individuals, governments, and other public and private organizations over the Internet or various computer networks (Savrul & Kılıç, 2011).

Electronic marketing (e-marketing): E-marketing is the use of the Internet and various related technologies such as e-mail, search marketing, and real-time communication to help achieve marketing objectives (El-Gohary, 2012).

Electronic word of mouth (e-WOM): e-WOM is the communication of opinions and product information via the Internet, gaining exposure for businesses (Cheung & Thadani, 2012).

Internet marketing (IM): IM is the use of the Internet and various related technologies in creating, communicating, and delivering benefits to customers (Eida & El-Gohary, 2013). Components to Internet marketing include the company's website, search engine marketing, social media marketing, content marketing, e-mail marketing, mobile marketing, and banner advertising (Eida & El-Gohary, 2013).

Real estate sales professional: A real estate sales professional refers to an individual licensed to sell real estate (Gibb & Pryce, 2012).

Realtor: A licensed real estate salesperson, agent, or broker (Gibb & Pryce, 2012).

Social media: Social media incorporates online platforms and tools that create a social interaction between businesses and customers (Kietzmann, Hermkens, McCarthy, & Silvestre, 2011).

User generated content (UGC): UGC is any online content (e.g., blogs, forums, chat rooms, social networking, etc.) created by an individual to discuss, review, or communicate information about products or services (Cheung & Thadani, 2012).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are facts within in a study that are accepted by the researchers as true but not yet proven and that contribute to the validity of a research study (Leedy & Ormrod, 2005). The first assumption I held in this study was that the participants answered honestly based on their practical knowledge, experience, and practice in the real estate market. Another assumption was that the results of the study revealed themes and patterns through the lived experiences of traditional residential real estate organization managers.

Limitations

Limitations in a study are hindrances that interfere with the research, leading to validity issues (Mahoney & Goertz, 2006). One identified limitation for this descriptive

qualitative research design study was the participants' experience level in the real estate industry. Varying experience levels may contribute to differences in the knowledge of successful strategies to remain competitive. Another limitation was the varying financial budgets of independent versus agency traditional residential real estate organization managers. Independent real estate professionals may lack the branding and name recognition that the agency professionals possessed, leading to additional funds allocated to marketing and promotion and possible competitive advantages.

Delimitations

Delimitations allow the researcher to limit the scope of the research (McCaslin & Scott, 2003). The delimitations for this study were that, the traditional residential real estate organization manager participants had to reside in a defined geographic area of four counties in western Nebraska, were at least 25 years old, and had at least 5 years' experience in developing strategies compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable. Additionally, the real estate professionals had to have sold a home in the past 5 years. Only including research on small traditional residential real estate organization managers was another delimitation of the study.

Significance of the Study

Value of the Study

This study is significant to business because an organization's success is dependent on how professionals create, deliver, and capture value for the consumer (Cherif & Grant, 2014). The real estate industry is still recovering from the collapse in

2008 and attempting to erase the negative image associated with the publicity of previous bad practices and poor regulation (Cherif & Grant, 2014). The average time a homebuyer searches for a property is 12 weeks (Cherif & Grant, 2014). Therefore, poor website design can be inefficient and wasteful of realtor's cost and consumers' time (Yuan et al., 2013). Learning from successful traditional residential real estate organizational managers may provide real estate professionals with the necessary strategies needed to compete in today's market.

Contribution to Business Practices

A contribution to business practice I made through this study was the identification of factors leading to successful strategies traditional residential real estate organization managers have implemented to complete with e-commerce real estate organizations. Younger buyers, families with children, and higher-income homebuyers rely on the convenience of the latest technology to make the residential purchasing decision easier (Goodwin & Stetelman, 2013). The traditional residential real estate organization managers may expand their existing knowledge of useful strategies and tactics to implement to gain market share and attract homebuyers. Some managers in the real estate industry are slow to embrace new technology and make advances in the Internet world (Goodwin & Stetelman, 2013). Participating real estate professionals' knowledge and expertise may equip traditional residential real estate organization managers with strategies and ways to implement the strategies into the current business strategic and operational planning processes.

Implications for Social Change

This study's implications for positive social change include the potential to provide new and useful strategies and insights for traditional residential real estate organization managers and salespeople in order to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain competitive and sustain their businesses. The decisions made in the early stages of business development contribute to the prosperity of employees, workers, families, and communities (Labedz & Berry, 2011). Informed traditional real estate organization managers are able to improve planning processes, strategies, and tools to compete with e-sales competitors to sustain healthy businesses. Furthermore, traditional residential real estate organization managers' continued sustainability and profitability contributes to the prosperity of their families and local economy through job creation, innovation, and competitiveness, leading to economic growth in the local community (Shukla & Shukla, 2014).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative, descriptive case study was to explore strategies that traditional residential real estate organization managers could implement to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable. When deciding to purchase a new home, 88% of individuals (an increase of 14% since 2010) used online searches when researching the real estate market (Yuan, Lee, Kim, & Kim, 2013). The purpose of this professional literature review was to summarize, compare, and contrast sources related to the specific business problem that some traditional residential real

estate organization managers need to develop strategies to compete effectively with ecommerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability.

When addressing a problem statement, researchers need to consider a wide range of conceptual and theoretical works of interest (Gama, McKenna, & Peticca-Harris, 2012). The literature review for this study was guided by the problem statement and research question: What strategies do some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable? The literature review aids researchers in the avoidance of unintentional research duplication, summarizing the subject, and identifying future research questions while adding important contributions to the existing literature (Rowley, 2012).

The following literature review consists of peer-reviewed research concerning diffusions of innovation, competitive strategies, e-commerce trends, issues facing traditional residential real estate organization managers, and innovation theories. For this study, I mainly obtained sources from business and management databases, Google Scholar, and Emerald Management Journal made available through the Walden University Online Library. I searched the following databases: (a) ProQuest Central, (b) EBSCOhost, (c) Business Source Complete, (d) Emerald Management Journal, and (e) Google Scholar. Keywords for the searches included (a) diffusion of innovation, (b) disruptive innovation theory, (c) innovation arguments, (d) qualitative research, (e) e-commerce, (f) real estate, (g) issues facing real estate professionals, (h) trends in e-commerce, and (i) competitive advantages.

I identified and evaluated over 1,500 articles over a 12-month period for this literature review and selected 95 relevant peer-reviewed articles. The extensive review of articles included 80 peer-reviewed articles published between January 2010–2014, eight from 2015, and seven from January 2009 or earlier. The review also contains five articles from nonpeer-reviewed sources. The percent for peer-reviewed articles published within 5 years of anticipated graduation is 87.4%. The total number of peer-reviewed articles in this study is 90 or 94.7% of the literature review.

In my review of the literature, I identified six main subtopics: (a) diffusion of innovation, (b) summary of literature on diffusion of innovation theory, (c) issues facing traditional residential real estate organization managers, (d) benefits of e-commerce in the real estate industry, (e) trends in utilization of e-commerce competitive strategies, and (f) Internet and e-commerce usage among real estate professionals. The insights and analysis from the following literature review allowed me to properly identify gaps in the current knowledge and justify the need for this study.

Diffusion of Innovation

Rogers (1995) created the diffusion of innovation theory in 1962. The diffusion of innovations theory classified adopters of products and services into five categories: (a) innovators, (b) early adopters, (c) early majority, (d) late majority, and (e) laggards.

Rogers defined innovation as an event, process, technology, or object that is new to members of a social system and becomes communicated and accepted over time.

Diffusion of innovations theory involves communication of innovation by members of a social system through various channels over time (Rogers, 1995). The four main elements of the diffusion of innovations theory are (a) innovation, (b) communication channels, (c) time, and (d) a social system (Rogers, 1995). Rogers (1995) developed the diffusion of innovation theory for use in increasing performance and noted various characteristics of an innovation that determine its rate of adoption. Rogers wrote that the innovation was a decision process that involves knowledge in making the decision to adopt or reject a new concept and characterized innovation into five categories: (a) relative advantage, (b) compatibility, (c) complexity, (d) trialability, and (e) observability. Rogers attributed the perception of these characteristics by individuals varies and noted the adoption rate of innovation is attributable to an individual's characteristic perception.

Relative advantage, defined by Rogers (1995), is the degree to which an innovation proves to be better than the idea it replaces. Subjective view or perception from the individual is more advantageous than the objective advantage of the innovation (Reiner, 2011; Rogers, 1995). This subjective view explains the mode of adoption and diffusion of innovation differences in individuals and in some instances where adoption of an innovation does not occur (Greenhalgh, Robert, Macfarlane, Bate, & Kyriakidou, 2004). Relative advantage, measured in economic terms, social prestige, convenience, or satisfaction determines the magnitude of relative advantage (Rogers, 1995).

Typically, the early adopters use social prestige and convenience as a measure of relative advantage (Rogers, 1995). The late adopters are more apt to use economic factors and satisfaction (Rogers, 1995). Although, relative advantage only is not a guarantee for high rate of diffusion of innovation, diffusion occurs when an innovation seems simple and compatible with the adopter's values and experience (Lin, Chiu, & Lim, 2011). Compatibility, defined by Rogers (1995), is the degree to which innovation align with existing values. Any idea or innovation inconsistent with the values and norms of a social system faces resistance to adoption or no adoption by the community (Tuan & Venkatesh, 2010). For example, the resistance to gay rights prevalent in a highly religious sect of the community.

Tuan and Venkatesh (2010) expanded Rogers's explanation by stating that organizational culture influences the extent of motivation of innovation in an organization, noting the basic values, assumptions, and beliefs are integral parts of the behavior and activities revealed as norms. Furthermore, Tuan and Venkatesh observed that most medical staff in three out of the six private hospitals studied viewed technological innovation as stemming from individuals in middle management and senior management positions. In a controlled system, diffusion of innovation will meet obstructions, while a flexible system with cooperative teamwork will support innovation (Tuan & Venkatesh, 2010).

Complexity is the degree to which a relatively complex innovation slowly goes through adoption by potential adopters (Rogers, 1995). Morris (2013) used differentiation

as a tool to increase bottom line profits incorporating customer feedback, industry changes, and anticipated changes working to optimize the businesses unique position and provide insight on additional tools. The diffusion of innovation model, typically used as a qualitative tool for researchers, describes and explores the adoption process without resolving conflict issues with improvement, accessibility, and time commitment to the learning curve (Ratcliff & Doshi, 2013). The rate of adoption of an innovation increases among individuals when the innovation is straightforward in the eyes of the social system (Borrego, Froyd, & Hall, 2010).

The opportunity to experiment with an innovation prior to adoption refers to trialability (Ismail, 2012; Rogers, 1995). Adopting an innovation from the experimental stage is cheaper, less threatening, and potentially eliminates any uncertainty in taking the risk (Ismail, 2012; Rogers, 1995). Trialability assists to confirm initial perception of benefits and risks, thus encouraging the adoption of an innovation, particularly in e-business (Banerjee, Wei, & Ma, 2012). Similar to relative advantage and simplicity, trialability expedites diffusion of innovation (Freeman, 2012). Free and trial versions give an indication of the quality of the product, increasing the diffusion process (Lee & Tan, 2013).

Lastly, Rogers (1995) referred to the extent to which the aftermath of the innovation is noticeable as observability. Visibility and awareness usually accompany observability, which tends to enhance the rate of adoption and diffusion (Soderhölm & Sonnenwald, 2010). Furthermore, in the absence of trust and perceived risk, consumer

vulnerability to deceitful practices exists in factors during the adoption process (Kesharwani & Bisht, 2012). Individuals tend to adopt an innovation when they are aware and can easily observe the benefits/outcome.

Summary of Literature on Diffusion of Innovation Theory

Always improving, in all ways, remains a significant guideline for businesses and entrepreneurs to retain sustainability in the 21st century (Shiller, 2013). Using innovation as a business strategy requires balance in order to identify immediate and emerging opportunities to help entrepreneurs learn to use innovation as a strategic tool of capitalism (Shiller, 2013). Furthermore, innovation serves as a solid business strategy, requiring a fair process to capitalize on emerging trends and opportunities (Shiller, 2013).

Originally derived from the Latin word *innovare*, the word *innovate* means to change or renew (Ersoz & Karaman, 2011). Furthermore, innovation is the generation of a new idea that meets the existing market needs and drives economic growth (Sang, Lee, & Trimi, 2012). Cakar and Erturk (2010) defined innovation as the ability of management to adapt to change with new products, services, or processes. Evangelista, Lucchese, and Meliciani (2013) referred to innovation as a potential key driver of economic growth and expansion.

Additionally, innovation might be used to increase product or service efficiency in a desire to maintain market position (Ettlie & Rosenthal, 2011). Organizational decision-makers consider adopting an innovation after a series of activities, referred to as innovation development, occurs (Arun & George, 2011). Arun and George (2011) further

noted a push from organizational stakeholders on such activities. Change precipitates from continuous improvement through innovation and strategic marketing encouraging consumers to adopt the innovation (Petrick & Martinelli, 2012).

Continuous improvement is the catalyst for change and effective innovation through strategic marketing encourages individuals to adopt the change in service, product, or technology (Petrick & Martinelli, 2012). Bass (2013), another diffusion of innovation theorist, observed the longitudinal adoption characteristics comparing factors using innovation parameter and the imitation parameter for Rogers' five-step process (Ratcliff & Doshi, 2013). The overall theme in this qualitative descriptive case study addresses the diffusion of innovation theory as an applied concept for the increase in Internet usage of independent real estate sites by homebuyers and the need for an online presence by traditional residential real estate professionals (Wu & Brynjolfsson, 2014).

Rogers's (1995) theory provided a context for the adoption process and serves as a catalyst for new ideas, products, and services from decision makers (Ratcliff & Doshi, 2013). The diffusion of innovation decision model by Rogers includes knowledge, persuasion, contemplation, implementation, and decision confirmation (Woodward et al., 2014). Strategic planning in organizations often uses less desirable innovations to analyze for future integration and implementation and to identify misrepresentations in the communication process (Greve, 2011). The ability of an organization to innovate and incorporate continuous improvement processes creates a competitive advantage and sustainable business model (Huang, Kao, Chang, & Lin, 2012).

According to Carlo, Lyytinen, and Rose (2012), the knowledge-based model of radical innovation is unique and bridges the utility gap, creating new technologies. The interactive potential of services organizations facilitates networking through collaborative communication, the ability to capitalizing on external resources, and provides opportunities for knowledge synergy, thereby creating the conditions necessary for sustainable growth and economic development (Ahrweiler, Gilbert, & Pyka, 2011). An organization's ability to innovate and incorporate continuous improvement processes are significant factors in building a sustainable business and competitive advantage (Huang, Kao, Chang, & Lin, 2012).

Many individuals are looking for efficient ways to complete complicated processes. Therefore, the use of independent online services provides an advantage over traditional strategies (Al-Jabri & Sohail, 2012). Christensen (2011) stated the likelihood of companies leading their industry in the innovation is rare. Therefore, to strengthen the competition in the marketplace, companies must create value for their customers (Christensen, 2011). The business model innovation platform used by Apple revolutionized the organizations' business management processes to increase and sustain their competitive advantage and revolutionized the technology industry as a whole (Jun & Park, 2013). Netflix shortened the supply chain for in home movies by offering streaming, becoming the largest Internet based movie company in the world (Feuerverger, He, & Khatri, 2012). Furthermore, Southwest Airlines uses innovation to

differentiate their business process and leads the airline industry in market share (Rietsema & Watkins, 2012).

Al-Jabri and Sohail (2012) used the diffusion of innovation theory to investigate the technical attributes influencing mobile banking adoption. Al-Jabri and Sohail investigated factors that influence the adoption of mobile banking in a young sample size of 18 to 25 year olds through focus groups and a quantitative questionnaire of existing users. Innovation is a critical part of creating a competitive edge in the market and is important to the entrepreneurial process (Bock, Opsahl, George, & Gann, 2011). The growth of financial industry services provided through mobile communications, particularly mobile banking is one of the most successful business-to-business applications in e-commerce (Al-Jabri & Sohail, 2012). Al-Jabri and Sohail concluded with the suggestion that banks utilize a variety of services focused on customers' experiences and lifestyle to increase the adoption process. The development of a particular innovation application assists businesses and helps the company grow and become sustainable in the long-term (Bock et al., 2011).

Awareness of advances and applications of e-finance include examining strategies showing how organizations benefit from innovations, and many traditional residential real estate organization managers encounter barriers to creating an online presence, particularly when offering services and forms online (Shahrokhi, 2008). Advances in e-finance and regulations for online services allow traditional residential real estate organization managers to engage current clients and attract new customers by creating a

one-stop shop for prospective buyers and sellers, eliminating additional service providers (Shahrokhi, 2008).

The Netflix Company used cutting-edge innovation with evolving value creation to capture the video-renting market (Ryan, 2013). Additionally, Ryan (2013) found that Netflix leveraged value to customers, using an innovation strategy to create a successful digital format. Huang and Benyoucef (2013) recommended organizations determine existing e-commerce and social networking capabilities before developing a social commerce strategy. Many real estate professionals are seeking ways to increase online services and connect with prospective buyers and sellers. Many organizations use social media to connect, interact, and collaborate with customers, particularly in online communities and the application of social media for open innovation among organizations (Mount & Garcia Martinez, 2014).

The social networking availability allows average individuals to conduct commerce and develop a relationship when looking to buy or sell a home (Huang & Benyoucef, 2013). Furthermore, the marketability feature of social media allows for more visibility of listed property and services offered (Huang & Benyoucef, 2013). The application of social media for open innovation and evaluated motivations, implementation, impacts, and challenges at different stages of the innovation process resides in organizational adaptations and implementation of new technologies (Mount & Garcia Martinez, 2014).

Technology implementation is vital for social media and leads to creativity, expertise, and collective intelligence in the market (Mount & Garcia Martinez, 2014). Managers implementing social media should coordinate technological and organizational adaptations harnessing user interactions on social media for the exploitative development of products or services (Mount & Garcia Martinez, 2014). Mohamad, Ramli, Shuib, and Sulaiman (2015) found the vital attribute for real estate professionals and managers is motivation in creative and innovative ways to encourage and keep momentum. Real estate professionals succumb to the pressure to compete and remain innovative with new strategies (Love, Goh, Hogg, Robson, & Irani, 2011). Therefore, it is necessary to study real estate professionals and the strategies they could implement to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations.

Issues Facing Traditional Residential Real Estate Organization Managers

Real estate professionals face many issues when listing a property or attracting customers: (a) high costs, (b) competition, (c) market conditions, (d) dual agency, (e) demand, and (f) customer perception are the most important issues (Wiley, Waller, & Brastow, 2013). A robust association between the real estate valuation of lagged current account patterns, which occurred before and after the financial crisis of 2008 and housing market collapse, exists with the use of momentum pricing of real estate to slow appreciation times (Aizenman & Jinjarak, 2014). Increases in incentives for the buyer and seller are in response to poor or weak market conditions (Soyeh, Wiley, & Johnson, 2014). The increase of incentives during peak seasons to encourage sellers directly

affects the marketing efforts and leads to an overpricing of houses on the market (Soyeh et al., 2014). On the other hand, high loan-to-value ratios do not cause the boom-bust cycles without international capital flows (Aizenman & Jinjarak, 2014).

Shy (2010) investigated whether a conflict exists between real estate brokers and a seller of a house, and the collusion or calibration between real estate agencies. The prevalence of bubbles in the residential real estate industry incorporating incentives, rising prices, increase in inventory, and overbuilding accurately describe residential real estate markets dominated by financially unsophisticated households (Scherbina & Schlusche, 2012). Incentives to lower the selling price of a home include faster sales, leading to a reduction in brokers' costs, and the potential of commission now versus waiting for a higher commission in the future (Shy, 2010). Furthermore, the calibration revealed the 6% commission rate exceeds the seller's value perception, even when the sales price set by the broker to prolong time on the market and yield a higher commission (Shy, 2010).

Tower-Richardi, Brunyé, Gagnon, Mahoney, and Taylor (2014) investigated social status associations and vertical spatial dimension when buying real estate and whether the identified associations between social status and space guides the participants when faced with making decisions for others. A positive correlation exists between the purchase of real estate and seeking a higher social status for the buyer after the real estate purchase (Tower-Richardi et al., 2014). The use of discount brokers in the single-family residential market and the price and liquidity impact on the seller created competition in

the real estate market, especially with the recent housing bubble and recession (Rutherford & Yavas, 2012). However, the standard commission uniformly remains 5% to 7% across regions and price levels (Rutherford & Yavas, 2012).

Abatecola, Caputo, Mari, and Poggesi (2013) conducted an extensive literature review on the evolving concept of real estate management and noted current effective strategies of real estate management. Abatecola et al. revealed corporate real estate management (CREM) is a proven form of diversifying asset management. The effect of expertise on economic transactions, mainly focusing on real estate professionals suggests the central channel for the effect of expertise was improving information dissemination to potential buyers (Gay & Zhang, 2014). Real estate professionals implementing the strategies such as diversifying involves available property, financing, buyer and seller services, marketing efforts, and other techniques aimed at making the home buying process easier (Abatecola et al., 2013).

Real estate professionals face many issues when listing a property, competing with other realtors, or attracting customers (Wiley et al., 2013). The use of discount brokers, split commission, and Internet competition is on the rise (Rutherford & Yavas, 2012). Real estate professionals face increased competition from independent real estate websites (Gay & Zhang, 2014). The increase in the use of these sites allows a homebuyer to research properties without speaking to an agent, even with the increase in competition, the listing quality correlated with higher sales prices of homes (Gay & Zhang, 2014).

Although many individuals prefer a brand name associated with purchasing or selling real estate, discount brokers and Internet competition are on the rise (Rutherford & Yavas, 2012). Non-discount brokerage listings sell quicker than discount brokerage listings. The realtor activity associated with higher quality listings and higher sales prices on average, therefore, real estate professionals who release quality listings complete with photo quantity, photo quality, and objectiveness in text descriptions, obtain more success over time (Gay & Zhang, 2014).

Rutherford and Yavas (2012) concluded lower transaction costs have no impact on housing prices in the market but relate to asset liquidity. Furthermore, commission structure has no effect on the selling price and discount houses are 8% less likely to sell than the same house listed with a traditional brand name real estate brokerage firm (Rutherford & Yavas, 2012). Similarly, photo quantity and quality positively affected the sales price of a home (Gay & Zhang, 2014). Many real estate professionals compete with independent real estate websites to allow a homebuyer to research properties, thus seeking a higher sales price of homes through less personal interaction (Gay & Zhang, 2014).

Financial constraints on real estate professionals. E-finance continues to grow and change, leading to new ways of gathering, processing, and transmitting the purchase of goods or services (Shahrokhi, 2008). Several issues and challenges associated with the growth, advances, and innovations of e-finance in the financial services industry expanded to include regulatory measures such as electronic signatures, yet many controls

still need implementing (Shahrokhi, 2008). The implementation of a sustainable agenda creates financial performance and increases the effectiveness of using assets to generate revenues (Cajias, Geiger, & Bienert, 2012). The stronger the activities aimed at sustainability, the higher financial stability, particularly when real estate companies internalize external factors by acting responsibly pays off with the ability to generate revenues (Cajias et al., 2012). E-finance benefits businesses by reducing costs, expanding information scope, and deliver value-added information (Shahrokhi, 2008).

Real estate boom-bust cycles (a) threaten financial stability, (b) require policy options to reduce risks associated with real estate booms, and (c) guide principles using public policy to deal with real estate booms and busts (Crowe, Dell'Ariccia, Igan, & Rabanal, 2013). Before the 2008 housing bubble burst and subsequent recession, the standard practice was to wait for the bust and pick up the pieces, versus contain or prevent a boom (Crowe et al., 2013). Costs are significant for policy intervention, limiting the attempts at providing a boom. Real estate transactions in advanced economies involve financing or borrowing (Crowe et al., 2013).

Crowe et al. (2013) explored monetary, fiscal, and macroprudential policies, discussing benefits and challenges for each policy. Crowe et al. suggested the best response to real estate booms is more art than science, leading to a design with robust rules and discretion. Presale contracts benefit both the buyer and seller and involve many factors and risks (Edelstein, Liu, & Wu, 2012). The foundation emphasizes the practice

of presale agreements on vacant properties to benefit buyers and sellers worldwide (Edelstein et al., 2012).

Compensation and incentives to improve existing property to meet Leadership in Energy & Environment Design (LEED) certification, creating sustainable or green living spaces, is becoming a common practice with many individuals attempting to cash in on the price premiums (DeLisle, Grissom, & Högberg, 2013). E-commerce is beneficial to real estate enterprises, and along with other markets avenues, the real estate industry faces significant changes due to the integration of technology (Yiwei & Hui, 2013).

Yiwei and Hui (2013) compared real estate and the general definition of ecommerce and do not feel it should be a common practice to combine financial and
market performances when evaluating an enterprise. According to Yiwei and Hui,
financial performance does not account for unmeasurable things valuable to a company,
like competitive advantages or intangibles. Yiwei and Hui sought to identify through
electronic commerce; enterprises can expand in different avenues, improve
communication and information gathering, and increase operation productions and
conclude that electronic commerce can have a positive effect on real estate.

Benefits of E-commerce in the Real Estate Industry

Information about the effects of technology and strategies to compete with e-commerce websites creates job security and allows for advancement in the field.

Customer orientation and customer satisfaction share a strong relationship, and customer orientation consists of strategy, measurement, and implementation (Lervik, Olsen, Witell,

& Gustafsson, 2014). Real estate professionals benefit from innovation in technology, most notably the Internet, by providing pertinent information to customers, easing the home buying process. Therefore, customer satisfaction and orientation connect to the success of traditional residential real estate organization managers through creating relationships and serving the customers to create a sustainable business. Real estate professionals must embody an understanding of the environment as an entrepreneur to access information pertinent to the sustainability of their organization (Casson, 2005).

Homebuyers benefit from having the information necessary for the home buying process in one convenient location. Higher priced homes, first-time homebuyers, and employer-mandated moves also increased the search intensity. The growing increase in Internet usage has proven vital for the survival of real estate agents, and Yuan et al. (2013) developed a system based on the search engine limitations and participants' recommendations for usage. Richardson and Zumpano (2012) chronicled the evolution of Internet usage from 2006 to 2009 for purchasing a new home and discovered the search process and duration are longer in a buyer's market and short in a seller's market.

Internet use during the home search, duration and intensity, mortgage loan selection, home inspections, property appraisers, insurance, and other things associated with the home buying process demonstrated current strategies used by traditional residential real estate organization managers that enhance technology aimed at reaching new customers in various ways (Richardson & Zumpano, 2012). The real estate industry was the second-fastest growing segment for e-commerce and real estate agents no longer

stand as gatekeepers to property information (Henderson & Cowart, 2002). The Internet has a positive effect on the real estate industry, increasing the availability of information benefits the buyers, sellers, and any outside parties and these advances in technology are one of the most positive developments in the real estate industry in the past several years (Richardson & Zumpano, 2012).

Henderson and Cowart (2002) analyzed the anomaly of real estate industry ecommerce, by examining the structure of residential and commercial real estate websites
to determine the patterns of the content on the sites that increased the quality and quantity
of information available to the buyers and sellers in the market. The importance of visual
information for a property positively influences marketing time for a sale property
(Benefield, Cain, & Gleason, 2012). Virtual tours and mock-ups have been a standard for
many real estate professionals luring potential buyers to the property, visual information
vital to the successful marketing of the real estate property, and advances in techniques
and delivery are setting many real estate professionals apart from competitors (Benefield
et al., 2012). Henderson and Cowart discovered residential websites offered more
information in richer formats than commercial real estate sites and acknowledged the
trend of consumers preliminarily searching the Internet for the real estate property before
contacting an agent.

Yen (2015) reviewed and examined previous literature on the effects of perceived risk on customer loyalty in e-commerce. In particular, switching costs mediated the relationship between perceived risk and customer loyalty in shopping habits of customers

(Yen, 2015). Yen concluded lowering perceived risks results in higher switching costs, leading to customer loyalty with various service providers in e-commerce. Furthermore, managing perceived risk is critical for e-commerce providers (Yen, 2015). Yen did not find the relationship with perceived risk and customer loyalty significant in e-commerce. However, the perceived risk exists in an online transaction does not affect customer loyalty (Yen, 2015). Implications from the study include the implementation of guarantees, promotions, and anti-phishing recommendations from service providers to lower perceived risk and increase loyalty (Yen, 2015).

Many traditional residential real estate organization managers rely on customer loyalty to compete and survive in the market. The strategies identified by Yen (2015) provide traditional residential real estate organization managers with the tools needed to compete, overcoming perceived risk on online usage, thus creating customers loyalty. In additional, e-commerce continues to evolve to meet the needs of customers, requiring all organizations to adapt to trends in the market.

Real estate, as an information intensive and information-driven industry, is a promising setup for the study of e-commerce (Kumar, 2014). Market intermediaries and individuals who connect buyers and sellers rather than buying or selling themselves can use information technology (IT) to connect buyers and sellers with agents to keep the traditional real estate professional in business and increase profits over time (Kumar (2014). The steps to the e-commerce real estate process include (a) entering the house in a listing database, (b) making the property searchable and suitable for prospective buyers,

(c) evaluation in-person through a walk-through or showing, and (d) negation of price (Kumar, 2014). All four steps, made easier with IT, allow sellers to do the majority of the work on their own, essentially bypassing a real estate professional (Kumar, 2014). Kumar (2014) concluded with the suggestion to real estate professionals to add value to the consumer through IT, which creates a one-stop shop for all real estate transaction needs, essentially solidify the role of the professional in the process.

The concept of digital assemblages to advance information and communication technologies (ICT) reshaping work environments, adopted by residential real estate agents and the industry, created many social relations and interactions exist between stakeholders (Sawyer, Crowston, & Wigand, 2014). The home buying process is one of the largest investments an individual will make, and the decision process involves many economic and emotional factors (Seiler, Madhavan, & Liechty, 2012). Homebuyers want ease and security when making a major purchase and the variables mentioned above influence the real estate professionals' implementation of new strategies and the use of Internet search behavior in the purchase decision (Seiler et al., 2012). Seiler et al. (2012) considered charm pricing or listing a property slightly below round numbers and concluded homebuyers dwelled significantly longer on the first home, potentially drawn to by charm pricing.

Real estate agents rarely identify a home for a prospective buyer, instead many homebuyers search on their and contact the agent when they find a property they like, resulting in the real estate agent becoming the showing agent and arranges walk-throughs

(Sawyer et al., 2014). The potential for ICT in the real estate industry exists but is not stable or fully utilized and suggested implementing a system of web-based applications for evaluation real estate costs, image sharing, geographical data, and contact management to meet better the needs of prospective buyers and streamlining the real estate agents process (Sawyer et al., 2014).

A new age of real estate aimed at advertising to automate the process between the real estate agent and the customer and delegate human tasks to automated agents, programmed with resource awareness, taking the human element away from the real estate search process exists (Fiaidhi, Shakeri, Mohammed, & Tai-hoon, 2014). The Multi-Agent recommender system unifies online real estate advertisements with real estate customers to create an intermediate interface and real estate websites with property listed and ranked according to the customer's preferences (Fiaidhi et al., 2014).

Renters/buyers are also able to provide feedback to update user profiles and preferences ranking of the advertisements (Fiaidhi et al., 2014). The collaborative interface would connect customers and create a filtering method for advertisements and the filtering uses preferences for real estate property to identify advertisements pertaining to the wants of the customers (Fiaidhi et al., 2014).

The development of e-service research through different perspectives, focusing on human, technological, and various challenges in providing e-services meeting the needs of all stakeholders revealed growth of the e-service the business lead to research in perspectives, definitions, and approaches to e-services (Hassan, Shehab, & Peppard,

2011). E-service allows real estate professionals the ability to link listings with the mortgage or financial services, creating a complete shopping experience for the prospective buyer (Hassan et al., 2011). E-commerce is growing and changing the way consumers conducts everyday business (Shahrokhi, 2008). Offering a single stop for everything home related gives real estate professionals an edge over the competition and possibly generates additional customers (Hassan et al., 2011).

Ethics, trust, privacy, and security, are major factors for consumers when selecting a business for online products or services (Sharma & Lijuan, 2014).

Furthermore, perceived risk affects consumer loyalty, especially when calculating switching costs (Yen, 2015). Overall, consumers need to realize some benefit, potentially in the form of a service guarantee to remain loyal (Zheng, Hung, Lin, & Wu, 2015). Ecommerce websites allow customers to conduct business transactions with ease from the comfort of their home. Bundling of services, connecting products with services, and limiting the need for face-to-face interaction is valuable to the customer experience.

Creating competitive strategies for traditional residential real estate organization managers is vital to their success. The utilization of e-commerce websites to attract new clients takes time, understanding, and strategy to ensure the security; trust and privacy exist to lower perceived risk and increase customer loyalty.

Trends in Utilization of E-commerce Competitive Strategies

The Internet, particularly e-commerce, continues to evolve with technology and ease of business. Efficient usage of e-commerce connects businesses with customers in

various ways (Das, 2012). Available services provided via the Internet range from general consumer purchases to government facilities (Hassan, Shehab, & Peppard, 2011). Social networking offers greater visibility of products and services offered by organizations (Huang & Benyoucef, 2013). The competition and availability of Internet sites continue to increase, and real estate professionals need to adopt strategies to compete (Muhanna, 2000). Furthermore, word-of-mouth, particularly in a social network is vital to the exposure of an organization and growth of site (Yoo, Sanders, & Moon, 2013).

Real estate professionals work in small businesses or independently, incurring significant marketing costs. Baldwin (2015) suggested an interactive approach to webbased technology. Stamsø (2015) noted that the Internet has created a transparent marketplace for buyers and sellers, especially in rural areas. Real estate professionals spend many hours in homes interacting with customers. Spending time and money to implement an interactive site, to entice prospective clients, is a necessary competitive strategy (Baldwin, 2015). Buying and selling a home on your own can be complicated and confusing for the average consumer. Transaction costs have become an issue for many individuals, prompting sellers to list *For Sale by Owner* or privately to avoid additional costs when selling their home (Baldwin, 2015). Of those surveyed by Stamsø, 83% used a real estate agent to sell their home. The remaining 17% sold privately and employed assistance from agents (Stamsø, 2015).

In an unregulated market, the issue arises when less expensive online programs allow buyers and sellers access to financial and marketing services when buying or selling a home. The Internet, particularly e-commerce, continues to evolve with technology and ease of business (Das, 2012). Efficient usage of e-commerce connects businesses with customers in various ways (Das, 2012). Available services provided via the Internet range from general consumer purchases to government facilities (Hassan, Shehab, & Peppard, 2011). The competition and availability of Internet sites continue to increase, and real estate professionals need to adopt strategies to compete (Muhanna, 2000). Furthermore, word-of-mouth, particularly in a social network is vital to the exposure of an organization and growth of site (Yoo, Sanders, & Moon, 2013).

Proactive, leading ability providers, particularly traditional residential real estate organization managers bundle services online to create convenience for buyers and sellers (Zheng et al., 2015). Bundling services attracts and retains clients, and furthermore, allow the client to conduct business transactions without face-to-face interaction, a growing trend among many industries (Zheng et al., 2015). Social commerce is emerging as a significant aspect of website design both practically and academically, and vital to social commerce relationships among consumers, communities, and online commerce (Huang & Benyoucef, 2013). Web-based technology, when implemented correctly, can increase productivity and reduce costs in small businesses (Baldwin, 2015).

Cherif and Grant (2014) compared and analyzed the business models of six different real estate e-businesses to uncover how e-business models influence company performance and consumer behavior. Cherif and Grant analyzed strengths and weaknesses of the e-business model to understand which of the four Internet business models: (a) web-advertising, (b) brokerage, (c) value chain, or (d) diversified is most beneficial for an organization's strategy. Cherif and Grant conducted research in light of the housing market crash of 2008 and sought to understand which business models work the best to benefit the longevity of the real estate market as a whole.

Cherif and Grant (2014) analyzed online real estate sites to assist the real estate market in progressing itself by embracing technology and nontraditional real estate business models. Cherif and Grant analyzed the six top Internet-based real estate agencies, Yahoo real estate, redfin.com, realtor.com, trulia.com, zillow.com and Craigslist, using nine components: (a) the main partners, (b) key activities, (c) key resources, (d) value proposition, (e) customer relationships, (f) channels, (g) customer segments, (h) cost structure, and (i) revenue streams. Technology advances allow for more competition and variety in methods to reach customers (Jung & Pawlowski, 2014).

Chief and Grant (2014) found that the businesses all had similar target markets and similar models. The main differences in the websites are the features they offer. For instance, Zillow now offers online property appraisal, typically, an appraisal is a process that requires property owners to hire an appraiser and set up appointments to go to the location (Cherif & Grant, 2014). Redfin provides a live chat service where a customer

can chat with an agent about any questions they may have (Cherif & Grant, 2014).

According to Cherif and Grant, Realtor.com has built trust between the customer and the realtor with electronic signatures to reduce wasted time of every stakeholder having to get together and sign all the documents in person.

Potential outcomes from adding primary benefits to enhance e-retailing services influence the experiential values on the retailer's intent and enhancement of website involvement (Shobeiri, Mazaheri, & Laroche, 2014). An efficient e-commerce strategy affects the connectivity towards buying patterns of customers and highlights the importance of usage for all organizations (Das, 2012). Offering improved services for customers sets the e-retailers apart from competitors offering the same or similar products (Shobeiri et al., 2014). Real estate professionals deploying the authors proposed positioning guide improves website involvement and combining experiential values enables organizations to exceed customer expectations (Shobeiri et al., 2014).

The role of successful e-commerce usage centers on the Internet for consumers and businesses and the Internet in particular offers: (a) availability, (b) self-service, (c) openness, (d) global presence, (e) transaction ease and professionalism, and (f) low cost leading to increased profits (Das, 2012). Furthermore, the following ways attracted online customers: (a) provide value, (b) maintain product quality, (c) assure security, (d) provide full product details, and (e) provide a social experience (Das, 2012). The Internet and e-commerce continue to evolve, and organizations need to adapt to changes in customer wants and needs (Das, 2012).

Beracha and Wintoki (2013) conducted a study on the correlation between Internet search frequency and real estate prices, using a quantitative approach to analyzing Google search analytics and compared the frequency of real estate related search terms to abnormal trends in real estate prices in over 200 cities. Beracha and Wintoki concluded that a rise in the frequency in real estate search terms connected to an increase in real estate prices. When people began searching online for real estate more than normal, there is an effect on prices due to a rise in interest in buying real estate (Beracha & Wintoki, 2013). Technology advances lead to more individuals utilizing the Internet to search for homes and Beracha and Wintoki suggested an effect on Internet searches for homes on real estate prices.

The trend of using the Internet to find a home is increasing at a massive rate (Ho, Chang, & Ku, 2015). The Internet trend is not going away, so realtors are going to have to adopt new strategies to stay competitive (Ho et al., 2015). Ho et al. identified uses of technology to assist online realtors, but not traditional real estate professionals. The importance of e-WOM to individuals and businesses seeking exposure on the Internet, including virtual involvement and UGC, lead to e-WOM impacts on purchase decisions for consumers (Yoo, Sanders, & Moon, 2013).

Due to the trend of social communities sharing opinions and suggestions, many businesses incorporated e-loyalty incentives for consumers to boost site awareness and increase traffic, and Yoo et al. (2013) concluded that e-WOM had become a vital part of any online shopping experience. Motivation to review a product, service, or business

comes from intrinsic incentives to help others and significantly affects the building of site identification for companies (Yoo et al., 2013). The relationships, commonly built through e-loyalty and UGC, between customers and online shopping sites, involves personal and social interaction (Yoo et al., 2013). Organizations, such as real estate firms, rely heavily on reviews and recommendations from previous customers (Yoo et al., 2013). Creating an online community within the real estate professional's site creates a competitive advantage (Yoo et al., 2013).

The importance, of maintaining an online presence, is vital to the longevity of traditional real estate professionals and Chatterjee et al. (2013) suggested implementing information systems, designed with particular organizational, social, or economic purpose, prove to be more beneficial to all users and individuals involved in the setting. The advances in technology and increased use of Internet to conduct shopping and product research continue to affect all organizations. Social networks, virtual communities, and e-commerce continue to evolve to meet the changes needs of consumers. All organizations including academic, government, commerce, and social engage in various transactions daily. In particular, real estate professionals using the identified strategies to grow awareness, loyalty, and traffic gain a competitive advantage online.

Internet and E-commerce Usage among Real Estate Professionals

Real estate professionals are facing challenges from expanding e-commerce, overbuilding of store locations, and the average income of middle-class families falling

(Bainbridge, 2014). Customers prefer to engage in a virtual world, making e-commerce the norm. Therefore, high value drives competition and improves ethical performance by e-commerce organizations (Sharma & Lijuan, 2014). Consumer trust and privacy concerns of e-commerce systems affect perceptions during the adoption phase (Sharma & Lijuan, 2014). Using an online survey to study ethical issues in e-commerce and influencing factors, Sharma and Lijuan tested a model of the relationships and outcomes of e-commerce. Topics such as ethics, security, and privacy illustrated the impact of trust. Sharma and Lijuan concluded following the ethical principle by Gundlach and Murphy (1993) encourages long-term relationships.

Many traditional residential real estate organization managers engage in ecommerce, therefore building trust and ensuring privacy on a secure website allows the
traditional residential real estate organization managers to grow and remain competitive.
Before the Internet age, companies were building stores in new locations to sustain
growth. However, the Internet boom caused e-commerce to take a significant portion of
sales traditionally made at physical locations (Bainbridge, 2014). The rise of Internet
search engines focused on real estate contributes to the necessity of remaining
competitive, giving individuals the ability to search for items in less time when it is
convenient for them. Therefore, the Internet can be a useful tool for agents, but it can also
be a hindrance to business (Bainbridge, 2014).

Homebuyers asked about the duration and intensity of Internet use during the home search, as well as other marketing tools associated with the home buying process

revealed usage of technology in real estate searches (Goodwin & Stetelman, 2013). Real estate agents have changed the method for marketing properties in past years compared to 2013, identifying a goal for real estate agents to use technology to further their business, targeting younger buyers, families with children, and higher-income homebuyers rely on the convenience of the latest technology to make the purchase decision easier (Goodwin & Stetelman, 2013). By identifying, a disconnect between how real estate agents perceive marketing methods and how effective the clients find them to be, Goodwin and Stetelman (2013), recommended further research on Internet usage and marketing for real estate companies.

Sun and Ifeanyi (2014) examined the benefits of Internet use, and the organizational structure needs to be in place to be successful. During the face-to-face interviews with 10 randomly selected real estate agents, a series of questions asked about the use of e-business in the real estate agency (Sun & Ifeanyi, 2014). The results of the interviews showed 8 out of 10 real estate agencies utilized e-business professional services to publish property details to the Internet (Sun & Ifeanyi, 2014). The use of the e-business professional services was easy to use, created exposure, and convenient in many ways. Sun and Ifeanyi also interviewed real estate agents with company websites about the impact e-business systems on their company websites. The results showed many real estate agents enjoyed the flexibility of maintaining their sites but did not have the exposure they sought, and search engines were ranking their websites lower (Sun & Ifeanyi, 2014). An increase in the level of services offered on their websites to remain

competitive and the implementation of e-business professional services enhances websites, search results and increase revenue (Sun & Ifeanyi, 2014).

The evolution of retailors from developing an e-commerce website for moving into a mobile-business (m-business) website provoked many retailers and industries, reluctant to offer services and products online are emerging into multiple avenues of e-commerce and m-business strategies (Swilley, Hofacker, & Lamont, 2012). Consumers are relying on the convenience and ease of shopping or exploring online, especially on their mobile devices. Swilley et al. (2012) employed the institutional theory for conceptual framework and hypothesis. Many businesses are online in some facet, and the knowledge gained from e-commerce creates the opportunity to advance the m-business. The integration of m-business has been slow, and diffusion not fully realized by many firms and the pressure exists in many industries to develop a strategic deployment of m-business strategy to achieve organizational goals (Swilley et al., 2012).

Behavioral responses to eWOM on social media sites rely on conceptual communication in mediated environment (Daugherty & Hoffman, 2014). Additionally, the use of eWOM enables organizations the opportunity to spread communication through various sites faster and more efficiently than traditional WOM (Daugherty & Hoffman, 2014). Many traditional residential real estate organization managers operate independently, and some enter into relationships with national real estate companies for branding and marketing materials. The effect of e-commerce on availability, access to information, and other social conditions, drawing attention to social conditions affecting

customer's actions, increases competition among dealers in the automobile industry and the rise in competition leads to a decrease in prices and overall profitability (Janson & Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2005). Traditional residential real estate organization managers, operating under a nationally recognized real estate company, have an advantage in eWOM by using recognizable branding when launching a social media campaign (Daugherty & Hoffman, 2014).

The reduction in competitive advantages among dealers leads to an empowerment among purchasers and reduces the power of the dealers (Janson & Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2005). E-commerce among traditional residential real estate organization managers creates competitive advantages and effects the real estate industry and the rise in competition empower traditional residential real estate organization managers to develop new strategies for online marketing to remain competitive and create a sustainable organization (Janson & Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2005). Furthermore, the use of e-commerce websites by clients potentially leads to a decrease in sales prices and the overall decline in profits (Janson & Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2005).

Google Trends provides queries from a geographical area in a time series index, with information available at the metro, state, and country level in the United States and several other countries is useful for various businesses, with a potential use to forecast economic indicators for several businesses (Choi & Varian, 2012). Real estate professionals, using data from Google Trends on specific searches for property types in a given period, can target marketing efforts to serve better the needs of the population

(Choi & Varian, 2012). Simple seasonal AR models including relevant Google Trends variables outperformed models without by 5-20% and furthermore, Choi and Varian mentioned the use of forecasting various business metrics using state-level data.

E-commerce has emerged as a central component of most businesses and industries; the real estate industry has transferred into the virtual world with a company, public, private, and specialized websites covering every type of property (Zhitomirsky-Geffet & Maman, 2014). Real estate deals usually conducted in person, but advertising and presentation of services or listings done on multiple websites effects the sale (Zhitomirsky-Geffet & Maman, 2014). The demand for properties rose significantly and reflected accordingly in the online market and the availability of sites to serve as a tool for market surveys, questioned by the authors, critically influences the pricing marketing in real estate (Zhitomirsky-Geffet & Maman, 2014).

An increase in Internet usage of independent real estate sites by homebuyers, identified by Wu and Brynjolfsson (2014), revealed the need for an online presence by real estate professionals. Specifically, professionals using data from Google and various other search engines, accurately predict future business activities (Wu & Brynjolfsson, 2014). Data on property types, interest rates, unemployment rates, policy changes, and seasonal effects for various states, geographic regions, and the abundance of data from Google Trends provided the researchers to study various topics related to real estate (Wu & Brynjolfsson, 2014). The use of different technology creates a competitive advantage for real estate agents and Realtors (Mahdjoubi et al., 2013). Many real estate

professionals acknowledge the value of an online presence in today's marketplace. However, some fail to capitalize fully on the potential and stop short of offering the necessary services aimed at attracting new buyers and sellers (Muhanna, 2000).

Social media marketing. Some traditional residential real estate organization managers lack the knowledge and skills to implement a social media marketing campaign advertising successfully sparsely, potentially reaching diverse target markets. The implementation of a social media marketing strategy, based on the practicum, to attract customers, and actively log entries with responses allows the traditional residential real estate organization managers to compete in today's marketplace. Furthermore, some traditional residential real estate organization managers are emerging and engaging on social media sites to reach additional customers and diversify marketing efforts.

Structuring messages and content appropriately to meet the needs of customers and solicit likes or shares is vital to the success of social media marketing campaigns. Professional content with facts attracts higher-level fans and lead to significant responses (Chang et al., 2015).

Tiago and Veríssimo (2014) investigated digital marketing and social media usage from the firm's perspective, identifying benefits and inhibitors. Firms must adopt social media when providing information to customers and connecting with stakeholders to generate sales and marketing communication integrates with digital space, creating linkages through high levels of digital marketing usage and social media interaction (Tiago & Veríssimo, 2014). Some traditional real estate organization managers lack

strategies to compete online because knowledge is fundamental to understanding and implementing a social media, marketing campaign involves researching the potential customer base and understanding their perception (Vinerean, 2013). The digital usage efforts create stronger relationships with customers leading to more engagement, and some traditional real estate organization managers are engaging in social media to engage with customers and develop relationships (Tiago & Veríssimo, 2014).

Vinerean (2013) studied the activities of 236 social media users, identifying different types of users and segmenting users using a linear model. Vinerean examined different predictors in social networking sites for a positive impact on the users' perception of online advertisements. Vinerean discovered four types of social media consumers: (a) engagers; (b) expressers and informers; (c) networkers; and (d) watchers and listeners, creating a classification for online users. Successful social media marketing involves creating a customer persona and continually updating the online strategy to coincide with the interests and type of social media consumer (Vinerean, 2013).

Marketers use social media to influence shopping should identify and target different customer types when implementing new campaigns (Vinerean, 2013).

Knowing the audience and creating or adapting a plan around their interests leads to success and growth. Social media marketing is growing and changing the way consumers conducts everyday business (Mount & Garcia Martinez, 2014). Connecting, collaborating, and engaging with customers is a daily occurrence through online communities and social media outlets (Mount & Garcia Martinez, 2014). Using social

media effectively creates relationships with customers and generates information from real customers in real time (Tiago & Veríssimo, 2014). The trend for social media engagement has arrived, and many organizations benefit from implementing various techniques to remain competitive (Vinerean, 2013).

Homebuyers rely more and more on the Internet throughout the home buying process, creating access to more timely information (Seiler, Madhavan, & Liechty, 2012). Failure to advance in technological offerings to customers leads to a turnover in the industry, and turnover exposes the organization to risk of decreases in productivity, performance, profits, and growth (Malik & Usman, 2011). One important marketing method for today's entrepreneurs is social media marketing (Chang, Yu, & Lu, 2015; Hajli, 2013).

Some traditional residential real estate organization managers lack the ability to communicate effectively with social media to reach potential customers. The skills and strategies taught in college are practicums based on real organizations and personal brands (Atwong, 2015). Traditional word-of-mouth (WOM) advertising has evolved to include eWOM and create beautiful messages on social media sites (Daugherty & Hoffman, 2014). On the other hand, e-commerce websites empower the buyer and potentially leads to a decrease in sales prices and the overall decline in competition and profits (Janson & Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2005).

Atwong (2015) developed a hands-on approach to teaching students about marketing and managing a personal brand on social media. Specifically, students lack the

skills adapting principles to particular situations to maintain professional competency (Atwong, 2015). The social media practicum developed by Atwong included planning, strategic implementation, and analytical management. The key to success, uncovered by Atwong, was timely constructed postings on an engaged network with follow-up and multiple methods of posts. Furthermore, challenges of a successful social media marketing campaign include the activity in the network, stakeholder buy-in, and critical thinking skills to implement campaigns (Atwong, 2015).

Social media marketing campaigns are necessary for every organization to advertise products or services, expand customer base, develop and maintain a reputation, or create a competitive advantage. Floreddu, Cabiddu, and Evaristo (2014) studied the impact of an organization's social media strategies and their online reputations. Social media campaigns and third-party communication affect the reputation of organizations and their ability to meet customer expectations (Floreddu et al., 2014). The authors analyzed online content and categorized the responses into types of communication and the relationship with corporate reputation. Building a reputation takes many years, calculated moves; however, some reputations ruined in minutes without the proper attention and pro-active measures (Floreddu et al., 2014).

Organizations safeguard and enhanced reputation through social media usage by following several recommendations; managers need to assess their current reputation, and then consider the cost-benefit to expanding presence, next monitor third-party communication, and finally engage customers through interactive messages and posts

(Floreddu et al., 2014). Chang, Yu, and Lu (2015) investigated the use of persuasive messages on social networks to increase participation with likes and shares. Some traditional residential real estate organization managers lack the ability to implement specific social media campaigns and benefit from tested strategies and models. Chang et al. concluded argument quality, post popularity, and attractiveness in posts on social media sites reinforce usefulness and preference from users. Furthermore, usability affects fans or user behaviors, like intention, and expertise serves as essential factors for sharing intention (Chang et al., 2015).

Monitoring social media and various other outlets for customers to share opinions are vital to the success of marketing campaigns and efforts. Hajli (2013) developed a technology acceptance model based on relevant literature demonstrating the role of social media in the development of social commerce, an e-commerce spin-off. Bruce and Solomon (2013) examined social media as more than just a place to send and receive information and identified social media as an interaction with companies and corporations through unique ways of communication. Hajli collected data from an online questionnaire on the intention to buy, perceived usefulness, social media, and trust of a website. Hajli concluded advancements in the Internet allow interconnectivity of consumers in online forums, communities, and sharing of recommendations. The stream in e-commerce, called social commerce empowers users to generate meaningful content for prospective buyers (Hajli, 2013). Furthermore, trust among users influenced intention to buy.

Social media presence is vital to the success of all organizations and allows traditional residential real estate organization managers to expand marketing efforts to additional target markets (Hajli, 2013). Bruce and Solomon (2013) provided validation to the mentality that marketing organizations no longer get to define their identities in the first place since most companies no longer own their brand or identity; they make, distribute, and communicate, but consumers decide what they mean. Strategies for implementing social media in service organizations exist, social media is evolving, and changing the way individuals conduct business, remaining up-to-date on the current trends is vital for every organization.

Social media involves creating and distributing an environment accessible available to each's needs (Bruce & Solomon, 2013). Social media marketing is essential for many organizations, including real estate. The implementation strategies to generate new customers vary across industries, resulting in further research opportunities.

Traditional real estate organization managers benefit from identifying social media users and new strategies to reach potential customers. Social networking offers greater visibility of products and services offered by organizations (Huang & Benyoucef, 2013). The social networking of individuals provides an opportunity for allows traditional residential real estate organization managers to reach additional customers and the additional customer base creates more opportunities for sales and creates sustainability (Hajli, 2013).

Transition

In Section 1, I introduced the existing business problem and the method I used to conduct the research. Traditional residential housing real estate professionals lack a strategic plan to compete with e-commerce real estate website competitors. Competition for sales of homes using e-commerce to conduct online searches proposes significant risks to the sustainability and profitability of traditional residential real estate professionals. The importance of maintaining an online presence is vital to the longevity of traditional real estate professionals.

In the literature review, I included studies from several trends of real estate, social media, financial, and e-commerce usage literature. This review included an exploration and analysis of the factors that characterize the phenomenon of strategies traditional residential real estate organization managers use to successfully compete with e-commerce websites. I also presented subsections on issues and financial constraints facing traditional residential real estate organization managers highlighted the high costs, buyer/seller incentives, volatile market, the recession, the economy, and compensation of traditional residential real estate organization managers. Further, the subsections on trends, strategies, Internet and e-commerce usage, and social media highlighted several advances and current trends in the use of the Internet and e-commerce websites to compete strategically with organizations and individuals in the same field.

The literature review justified the need to conduct this study: The lack of literature to answer the qualitative aspect of my business problem. I wanted to understand

why some residential real estate organization managers fail to compete with e-commerce websites. An extensive review of literature revealed emerging themes prevalent to the strategies currently implemented by professionals. Although guidebooks exist for real estate professionals, the competition is increasing and traditional residential housing real estate professionals need additional tools to remain competitive in today's market.

After the review of the literature, the need for new research related to how some traditional residential real estate organization managers effectively develop strategies to compete effectively with e-commerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability proved necessary. In Section 2, I will provide a detailed overview of the qualitative descriptive case study design along with the data collection steps I used to conduct my study. In Section 3, I present my study findings and recommendations.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 1 of this qualitative descriptive case study, I presented the background, purpose, review of existing literature, qualitative method, and research design. In Section 2, I will further expand on the study details through a restating the purpose, explaining my role as the researcher, and describing participant selection. Furthermore, Section 2 will include the research method and design, population sampling requirements, and details for ethical considerations included in this study. The contents of Section 2 will also cover the data collection instruments, techniques, organization, and the analysis of the central research question: What strategies do some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable? Finally, I will provide a description of the reliability and validity of the study as well as a summary of key points in the study to provide an overview of Section 3 components.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, descriptive case study was to explore strategies that some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable. The study population consisted of both male and female traditional real estate office managers in western Nebraska, who were at least 25 years old, and with at least 5 years' experience in developing strategies to address the online agencies in the real estate industry. The real estate professional participants also must have had sold a home in the past 5 years. In this study, successful

traditional residential real estate organization managers provided insight on sustaining profitability, and thereby, contribute to the prosperity of their employees, families, the local economy, and social change.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher was to design my study, collect data, and report the findings. For this descriptive case study, I was the data collection instrument. In a qualitative study, the researcher serves as the primary instrument for data collection (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). The researcher's knowledge, skills, and sensitivity are essential to the quality of knowledge produced when the researcher is the main instrument (Rowley, 2012). I used a purposeful sampling process to identify six individuals to serve as participants for my study. Most of my family, including grandparents, parents, uncles, siblings, and close friends, are employed in the real estate industry. My experience included my lifetime (1981–present) of exposure to the vicissitudes of the real estate industry.

I followed the protocols presented in the Belmont Report to ensure appropriate and ethical research for this study (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). The Belmont Report Belmont Report summarized the ethical philosophies and protocol for researching human subjects (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). Ethical principles and responsibilities for researchers included (a) respect for individuals, defending an individual's independence, and providing individuals with respect through informed consent; and (b) beneficence, capitalizing on the individual's responses to

benefit the study while doing no harm to the participants (Cameron, 2011). Applying the aforementioned principles required mindful contemplation of (a) informed consent, (b) a risks benefit assessment, and (c) selection of participants for research (Hsiung, 2012). I followed the interview protocol to learn about strategies that traditional residential real estate organization managers developed and implemented to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable.

Researcher bias had the potential to negatively affect the phases of research, including research design, data collection, data analysis, and findings. I remained mindful of my professional and personal background to avoid forcing research findings to align with my personal beliefs when designing my study, constructing research questions, and analyzing results. To refrain from introducing researcher bias, I used bracketing methods, such as: (a) I took notes during data collection and analysis, (b) I asked open-ended questions aimed at allowing interviewees to tell the story about their experience, (c) I asked study participants to review my interpretations for accuracy, and (d) I allowed the interviewee to lead the interview process (Perry, 1998; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). I submitted my study proposal for Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval to assure the safety and rights of participants were being protected. I received approval on June 29, 2016 with approval #06-29-16-0497369.

Participants

The target population for the study was experienced male and female adult, traditional residential real estate organization managers or real estate professionals who

are implementing various strategies to compete with e-commerce real estate websites in western Nebraska. For the purposes of this study, the traditional residential real estate organization managers resided in a defined geographic area of four counties in western Nebraska, were at least 25 years old, and had least 5 years' experience in developing strategies to address the online agencies in the real estate industry. Additionally, the real estate professionals must have sold at least one home in the past 5 years. I identified participants by professional websites, Multiple Listing Services listings, and county property records.

I recruited participants through personal contact via telephone after searching the phonebook for local real estate professionals in the area and explaining the basis for the study. I explained the study, highlighted my purposes for the research, and communicated time expectations. I ensured anonymity and confidentiality and that the information collected would be used solely for the purposes of research. I continued the interviews with the six realtors until the data collection process reached saturation, then ceased the interviews. I met saturation with the initial six interviews; therefore, no additional referrals were necessary.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

I determined that a qualitative research approach was the most appropriate method for this study for gaining a better understanding of how some traditional residential real estate organization managers develop strategies to effectively compete

with e-commerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability. Qualitative research allows for a better understanding in the form of words and pictures of a situation, rather than numbers (Merriam, 2014). Furthermore, qualitative research probes deeper into the experiences, processes, problems, and events (Bluhm, Harman, Lee, & Mitchell, 2011).

The qualitative research method was most appropriate for my study in order to gain a deeper understanding of the contemporary phenomenon facing traditional residential real estate organization managers. The qualitative research method uses a blend of planning and discovery to explain events within the context of social phenomena (Reybold, Lammert, & Stribling, 2013). Furthermore, qualitative researchers use purposive sampling as a strategic tool to assemble information in regards to life experiences in the context of a particular phenomenon (Reybold et al., 2013). A mixed method approach involved mixing the best parts of multiple research methods to accomplish the evaluation or study (Palinkas, Horwitz, Green, Wisdom, Duan, & Hoagwood, 2015).

Research Design

I employed a descriptive case study design to gather information from a purposeful sample of six traditional residential real estate organization managers located in western Nebraska. A descriptive design is the preferred method to provide a comprehensive summary of an event in the everyday terms (Sandelowski & Leeman 2012). Employing a descriptive case study provides researchers with an accurate accounting of individuals' experiences related to the same event (Maxwell, 2012).

Language is the mode of communication in qualitative descriptive studies versus the reading of an interpretive structure (Sandelowski & Leeman 2012). The exploration of the experiences of individuals enabled interpretive activity around reported or observed events (Sandelowski & Leeman 2012). Researchers use a qualitative descriptive case study to seek the meanings participants give to their experiences, to characterize the facts, and communicate those facts in a coherent and useful manner (Sandelowski & Leeman 2012).

Qualitative researchers seek to discover the feelings or perceptions of individuals involved in the phenomenon (Palinkas et al., 2015). Using this approach, researchers are able to understand the problem facing the participants and gain perspective into the culture and organization. Several approaches exist for qualitative research: (a) phenomenology, (b) ethnography, (c) case study, (d) grounded theory, and (e) narrative approach (Yin, 2013). Each approach begins with a problem to research and continues through questions leading to data collection and analysis.

The goal of a phenomenological study is to examine and analyze the factors that surround a specific phenomenon, identifying relevant details pertaining to the participants' lived experience (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). The goal of an ethnographic study is to observe and interview participants over an extended period of time (Yin, 2013). The goal of a case study is to explore a real-life situation or system over a period, collecting in-depth, detailed data (Yin, 2013). Since I did not study a specific culture or community, I did not select an ethnographic study design. Furthermore, I did not develop

common themes from researching individual world-views or lived experiences on identifiable issues; therefore, I did not select a grounded theory or phenomenological design (Marshall & Rossman, 2014).

The view of a single company or individual gives insight to the perspective and actions, but does not provide a full picture of the phenomenon or strategies in use to compete (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). Using a multiple case study approach was beneficial since I used it to explore the event in-depth by collecting data over a given period (Leonard, 2014). I chose the case study design to focus on the participants' perspectives regarding what happened and to identify their strategies to compete. The research method of descriptive case study design best suited the study in order to collect the accurate perspectives of professionals in the real estate industry.

Population and Sampling

The scope of this qualitative research data included a sample of experienced male and female adult traditional residential real estate organization managers and real estate professionals who were implementing various strategies to compete with e-commerce real estate websites. The participants of this study were residents of western Nebraska who had at least 5 years of e-commerce real estate website experience. The participants all had professional experience with analyzing data from e-commerce transactions influenced through marketing strategies used within the past year, resulting in an increase in sales and listing services.

I selected the participant pool for the study using a purposeful sampling strategy technique. A purposeful sample is useful for selecting individuals who demonstrate knowledge and experience in the phenomenon under study (Yin, 2013). A weakness to using a purposeful sample is that generalization is limited (Yin, 2013). To ensure richness of findings, I used a purposeful sampling with the following participant qualifying criteria: (a) be at least 18 years old, (b) currently own and run a western Nebraska real estate business with fewer than 10 employees, (c) act as the chief decision maker of the business, and (d) used e-commerce websites and Internet to promote products or services (Perry, 1998). Past research efforts involved the use of a purposeful sample when identifying participants, however additional data may be necessary to reach saturation. To gain a full perspective of the use of e-commerce and Internet to compete, I selected several successful individuals and analyzed their techniques and strategies.

Collecting sufficient data to allow for a complete description of the phenomenon under investigation is the objective of qualitative research (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). I interviewed experienced residential traditional real estate organization managers and real estate professionals who were using various strategies aimed at competing with e-commerce real estate websites to collect data to analyze and achieved data saturation. To achieve data saturation, I continued to interview until the same patterns emerged and no new information emerged (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). In addition, I used member checking to potentially identify any missed information and continued member checking until the process achieved saturation.

Ethical Research

To maintain ethical research, a code of conduct and responsibility is necessary for researchers to follow to ensure respect and justice (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). I followed all ethical practices and regulations when conducting the research. Prior to contacting and securing the participants, I confirmed all participants were not in a protected class and over the age of 18. I treated all participants with respect to create a trusting relationship between the participants and myself.

All participants were required to sign the informed consent form prior the start of interviews (see Appendix A). The consent form contained my name and contact information, and a Walden University representative's phone number. The consent form contained a description of the study, the background, and purpose of the research. The consent form contains Walden University's approval number for this study (06-29-16-0497369), which expires on June 28, 2017. Also included was a description of the participants. The participants were free to ask questions or withdraw from the study at any time, notifying me by phone or the e-mail address I provided. I offered the transcript to each participant for review to gain further trust of the participants and to ensure accuracy of the interview.

All participants in the study had the right to privacy and the right to review to participate in an interview or answer any questions during the process (Cole, Chase, Couch, & Clark, 2011). Therefore, participants were not obligated to complete the survey and participants did not receive incentives to complete the interview. An advantage to not

offering an incentive is the participants agree to participate freely and demonstrate an interest in the topic (Cole et al., 2011). Participants interviewed in-person received a consent form to record my and the participants' signatures. Participants interviewed over the telephone received an e-mail copy for their records. Participants were encouraged to keep copies of signed consent forms for their records and future references.

Hurt and McLaughlin (2012) emphasized the importance of protecting the privacy and confidentiality of participants who agree to participate in the study. All files, transcripts, interview recordings, and other documents from the interviews are stored on a personal external hard drive in a secure, locked location in a home safe. The proper storage of materials ensures the privacy of the participants and keeps the research private and confidential for 5 years. The consent form is located in Appendix A.

Data Collection Instruments

As a qualitative researcher, I served as the primary data collection instrument for this study and interpreter of the participants' voices and experiences (Turner & Norwood, 2013). In addition to myself as the primary data collection instrument during semistructured one-on-one interviews, the other forms of data collection were recordings and logging documentation from participants' companies (Yin, 2013). The goal for data collection in this study was to obtain information from traditional residential real estate organization managers who can assist in identifying strategies to compete with internet organizations. Various sources of evidence such as documentation, archival records, interviews, direct observation, and participant observation incorporate into qualitative

case study designs (Yin, 2013). Detailed collection and analysis of data included document analysis, group discussion, and individual interviews (Yin, 2013).

According to Denzin (2012), researchers use methodological triangulation to secure an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon. Therefore, the data sources for this study included interviews, websites, promotional materials, social media usage data, photos, flyers, and open house attendance. Through this study, I sought to interpret the strategies of the traditional residential real estate organization managers.

For this study, I engaged participants with open-ended questions (see Appendix D). Participant-observation is appropriate when the researcher plays the specific role as observer in the case study (Yin, 2013). The principle research question for this study was: What strategies do some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable? Individual interviews are required to develop the rich description of the strategies and serve as meaningful insights during data analysis (Yin, 2013).

To support and further validate my interpretation of data collected, I used member checking in the interview process and company documents review in this study.

Methodological triangulation of various sources assures validity in case study findings (Yin, 2013). To complete transcript review, I asked the participants to review the transcript to look for any errors or missing information. Data cleansing, used to address threats to validity in addition to member checking, included detecting and removing all irrelevant data (Terjesen & Sullivan, 2011).

Data Collection Technique

Qualitative methods provide a deeper understanding of the phenomenon, with interviews being the preferred method of data collection (Gill, Stewart, Treasure, & Chadwick, 2008). Case study data has six origins and must be collected from a minimum of two of the following six available sources: (a) archival records, (b) direct observations, (c) documentation, (d) interviews, (e) participant-observation (i.e., site visits), or (f) physical artifacts (Yin, 2012). I collected data from open-ended semistructured interview questions, and collected company data such as monthly sales figures and e-commerce advertising as a secondary data source.

Semistructured interviews and telephone interviews. Conducting interviews using a qualitative approach allows the researcher the opportunity to explore experiences and beliefs of individuals living the phenomenon (Gill et al., 2008). Researchers focus on demonstrating quality while conducting research. Many theorizations on qualitative interviews exist to assist the researcher during the design and implementation phases of an interview (Roulston, 2010). Qualitative studies use semistructured face-to-face interviews and in-depth qualitative interviews; however, telephone interviews are suitable for short structured interviews (Irvine, Drew, & Sainsbury, 2013). Telephone interviews when used appropriately during situations that make it difficult to arrange a face-to-face interview, does not sacrifice the quality of the data. Providing the participant with a choice between face-to-face and telephone allows for a wider range of participant pool and more information obtained (Irvine et al., 2013). The disadvantages to semistructured

interviews included time and disinterest (Kendall & Kendall, 2010). Participants may be preoccupied with their business requirements and unable to dedicate full time and attention to the interview.

Documentation. Qualitative case study researchers often use semistructured interview questions to collect data (Yin, 2013). In addition to data collected from interviews, researchers augment interview data with company documents and or archival records to ensure methodological triangulation (Yin, 2013). The company documents typically include a company's documents, archival records data, and other external sources such as business magazines, and Internet web (Denzin, 2012).

According to Denzin (2012), researchers use methodological triangulation to secure an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon. Denzin (2012) recommends using document and archival records for triangulation. Therefore, the data sources for this study included interviews, websites, promotional materials; social media usage data, photos, flyers, and open house attendance site complimented semistructured interviews for data collection. I also reviewed company documents to explore information regarding strategies of traditional real estate managers to triangulate the data (Walshe, 2011). Collecting these documents provided supporting evidence of the event, including strategies, correct spelling of names and organizations, and contact details (Draper & Swift, 2011). Qualitative researchers can benefit from diversifying data sources with documentation and interviews to provide confirmation of the findings (Bekhet &

Zauszniewski, 2012). Company documents did not provide enough details on the phenomenon; therefore, the documents served as supplemental data to the interviews.

In a qualitative case study, researchers are the instrument. In-depth, face-to-face semistructured interviews and secondary data collection of company data such as monthly sales figures, and e-commerce advertising review were the two primary sources for data collection for this qualitative descriptive case study. Along with semistructured interviews, I collected company data such as monthly sales figures, and e-commerce advertising.

I reviewed the IRB requirements and the selected six participants for my study fall under the minimal risk category requirements and was an eligible interviewee. Each participant was a professional in their field, over the age of 18, was of sound mind. Prior to the taping and interview questions, the participant voluntarily agreed to participate.

Data Organization Technique

Data analysis is essential to the data collection and research process. The interviewees had the option to choose the setting and timing of their interview. Their selection ensured comfort, privacy, and confidentiality, and I adhered to the interview protocol consistent for all face-to-face interviews (see Appendix B). I sent an invitation letter to each participant, formally inviting him or her to take place in the study (see Appendix C). During the interview, I asked each participant a unique set of interview questions (see Appendix D). After receiving responses from participants, I analyzed the

data by separating participant's responses into a chart or spreadsheet identifying similar patterns or relationships and organize together in order, to summarize the information.

Many software programs exist to assist in determining conclusiveness of research results. These software programs include, but are not limited to, Livescribe SmartPen software, NVivo11, and Microsoft Excel (Smith & Firth, 2011). Having a finance background, I am most familiar with the capabilities of Microsoft Excel. I have used SmartPen software for special education students to capture the exact words of my lectures or questions. The ability to collect the exact words in download transcripts ensured the validity and allow for ease in analysis.

The process for analyzing data collected in part of the continuous process of noticing, collecting, and thinking (Friese, 2014). Identifying common characteristics and coding for future analysis is a significant step in the data collection process. Preparing questions prior to the interview, identifying codes from the transcripts, and used software made the analysis process more efficient.

Data Analysis

In performing data analysis, I conducted thematic analysis using inductive and deductive coding to address the research question. In addition to conducting semistructured interviews with traditional real estate organization managers, I analyzed the performance of their current Internet marketing strategies through evaluation of their web analytics, web properties, social media presence, and online advertising. Inductive

methods allow for uncovering themes through the participants' experiences, not covered in the literature (Joffe, 2011).

I used Moustakas's (1994) modified van Kaam method of analysis to organize and analyze the information from participants. Moustakas's (1994) modified van Kaam method analysis includes seven steps to code, group, and cluster collected interview data into major themes. The summarized steps include: (a) extrapolating horizontalized statements relative to the research question, (b) using horizontalized statements to list the units of meaning, (c) clustering units into themes, and (d) integrating textural descriptions into meaning and essence (Moustakas, 1994). Reading and listening to the transcript numerous times allows me to engage fully in the participant's lived experience. I prioritized themes based on the number of times the theme or statement appeared during the interviews. Each participant in the study responded to the semistructured interview questions based on their experiences implementing strategies to compete with e-commerce websites.

After thoroughly reviewing the written and recorded transcripts, I coded the interviews using Microsoft Word and NVivo 11 to highlight subcategories within categories. Analyzing qualitative data can be an arduous task (Saldaña, 2015). Reading and listening to the transcripts numerous times allowed me to engage fully in the participants' lived experiences. Manually coding of several interviews can be time-consuming and taxing. Deploying the use of electronic methods or software to assist in the coding process proves beneficial to researchers sorting through many interviews

(Saldaña, 2015). My working process repeatedly included reading and listening to the interview, gaining a better understanding the lived experience of the participant while identifying phrases or sentences containing relevant information.

Triangulation combines various sources to collect, compare, contrast, and analyze data, serving as confirmation to enhance validity and internal consistency of the data (Denzin, 2012). The various sources I collected included annual profit and loss statements and monthly cash flow statements from the company. I sought to uncover evidence of increases in marketing expenses, various uses of advertising, and any correlation to increased sales. For triangulation purposes, I supplemented interviews with relevant documents, reports, and articles (Perry, 1998).

Coding provided the opportunity to sort data into categories and themes. Coding is not synonymous with analysis, yet a significant aspect of the process (Saldaña, 2015). Blaney, Filer, and Lyon (2014) suggested using an inductive analysis approach to (a) condense raw data, (b) establish explicit links between objectives and findings, and (c) develop a model or theory based on experiences. The inductive process may not be the most effective method, but it does provide a simple, straightforward approach to use (Blaney et al., 2014). I found the inductive approach useful in my analysis. By coding and analyzing the interview transcripts, I gained a better understanding of the participants' perceptions of the market. I analyzed the participants' responses using NVivo 11 software in order to identify relevant themes.

Analysis of data is crucial to the findings of a study. Thomas and Magilvy (2011) suggested using an inductive analysis approach to condense raw data, establish explicit links between objectives and findings, and develop a model or theory based on experiences. The inductive process may not be the most effective method, but it does provide a simple, straightforward approach to use (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). By coding and analyzing the interview transcript, I gained a better understanding of the participant's perception of their market. The coding of the six interview questions yielded multiple subcategories from which themes can be determined regarding real estate professionals' strategies.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are assessments for the quality and essential to a study (Campbell & Stanley, 2010). Reliability is the assessment of stable and consistent results over time (Campbell & Stanley, 2010). To be reliable, a study must be repeatable under similar circumstances (Morse, Barrett, Mayan, Olson, & Spiers, 2008). Validity assesses how well the study applies the design and measures of the research. To be valid, a study must be credible and truly represent the phenomenon studied (Green & Salkind, 2014). A valid study measures what it claims to measure according to the chosen design (Morse et al., 2008).

Reliability

I ensured quality and reliability of the data by documenting each step of the research, in order to maintain the accuracy. The aspects developed to ensure reliability in

qualitative research are credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformability (Morse et al., 2008). I gathered data using methodological triangulation of participant interview questions and company documents. By allowing participants to review the transcripts to verify factual and perspective accuracy, member-checking results validates participants by critically analyzing the researcher's interpretation of their statements (Marshall & Rossman, 2010; Yin, 2013).

As a researcher, my experience and expertise is the basis for the research questions. Therefore, I researched and reviewed peer-reviewed journals, newspapers, industry websites, e-commerce websites, and industry professionals in order to gain an in-depth understanding of the research project from every angle. Gaining a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon, allowed for quality questions developed for the research study.

Validity (Contextual)

The primary focus in qualitative research was to capture the lived experiences by individuals to demonstrate that an inquirer fully understands the case under study (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011). During the research design phase threats to contextual validity included contradictions in logic such as a mismatch between research questions and the study design (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011). Insufficient or biased knowledge from earlier studies and theories pose some threat to the contextual validity of qualitative studies (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011). Additionally, a lack of descriptive validity of the settings threatened the contextual validity during the data analysis and interpretation (Ihantola &

Kihn, 2011). I reviewed all data collected and analyze concurrently and repeatedly until I reached data saturation and no additional themes arose from the data.

Dependability

Dependability refers to the steadiness of data over comparable conditions and is comparable to the concept of reliability in quantitative research (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). The qualitative researcher commonly uses dependability to indicate the stability of the research data (Houghton et al., 2013). A study is dependable when other researchers agree and concur with the decision trails at each stage of a research process (Cope, 2014).

An audit trail of field notes, memo writing, and reflexive notes to ensure dependability is appropriate (Carlson, 2010). An audit trail consisted of a thorough outlining of the decisions made throughout a research process. The audit trail serves as a basis for the achievement of methodological and interpretative judgments of an inquirer (Houghton et al., 2013). For external auditing purposes, an audit trail was appropriate for keeping careful documentation of all components of a qualitative study (Carlson, 2010).

Member checking was a process of determining whether the data analysis parallels the participants experiences (Carlson, 2010). Participants have access to the interpretations of their narratives to verify reasonableness in line with the concept of member checking (Carlson, 2010). For my study, I provided the transcripts from the participants' interviews and ask the participants to verify the accuracy. Member checking

involved testing the data and analyzing categories, interpretations, and conclusions with participants to insure truthfulness and authenticity (Reilly, 2013).

Credibility

Credibility refers to an individual's perception of belief in the message (Gerdes & Øhrstrøm, 2011). A credible qualitative study occurs when individuals recognize the descriptions of the human experiences and immediately share the same experience (Cope, 2014). Houghton et al. (2013) implied that credibility exists in research to indicate the value and believability of research findings. Truthfulness, fairness, and lack of bias comprise the trustworthy dimensions of credibility (Gerdes & Øhrstrøm, 2011).

To enhance the credibility of the study, prolonged engagement, triangulation, and member checking proved valuable (Black, Palombaro, & Dole, 2013). Prolonged engagement involved spending an adequate amount of time prior and 60 minutes of interview time with participants to understand the phenomenon (Black et. al., 2013). Triangulation and member checking ensured credibility in the study (Black et. al., 2013).

In qualitative research, the observable position of the researcher addresses the question of credibility; when the process is transparent, it creates credible and confirmable results (Sinkovics & Alfoldi, 2012). Therefore, I conducted interviews with appropriate questions, avoiding *yes* or *no* answers. To enhance and support credibility, I described personal experiences and verify research findings with the participants. Furthermore, I demonstrated engagement, methods of observation, and audit trails by

documenting every stage of the study, beginning with identification of the research problem to reflecting the key research methodology decisions.

Transferability

Transferability represents the extent to which the results of a study apply to other settings or groups (Houghton et al., 2013). Severe threats to the transferability of a qualitative study may occur when researchers fail to reconnect empirical findings from their study to other cases and fail to connect new evidence to enhance the research questions (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011). Failure to compare empirical findings and previous theoretical contributions can lead to the discovery of something already demonstrated in previous studies (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011). Transferability is an important criterion in qualitative research for the study results to have meaning for individuals and readers outside of the study (Cope, 2014). Researchers enhance transferability through thick descriptions and include a chain of evidence, accurately record actions, and document the use of assumptions in the study (Black et al., 2013).

Confirmability

Confirmability is the ability to demonstrate the research data represent the participants' responses, not the researchers' biases (Cope, 2014). Researchers closely link confirmability to dependability, and Cope (2014) suggested that confirmability lies in the report of conclusions, interpretations, and illustrations of the study. I ensured confirmability in the study through a detailed audit trail, triangulation, and reflexivity.

Reflexivity is the practice disclosing personal biases and roles from personal experience in the study (Black et al., 2013). My association with the study topic was through family businesses and consumer experience in the real estate industry. Houghton et al. (2013) suggested outlining the decisions made throughout the research process to achieve confirmability through audit trail rigor. I used the audit trailing by providing the details of data analysis and the decisions that lead to the findings to establish rigor.

Saturation

Saturation occurs when the research data become repetitive and reveal no additional data during the coding process (Mason, 2010). To achieve data saturation, the same patterns repeat and new information did not emerge (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). I interviewed experienced residential traditional real estate organization managers or real estate professionals who utilize various strategies aimed at competing with e-commerce real estate websites to collect data to analyze and achieve data saturation. In addition, I used member checking to potentially identify any missed information and continue member checking until the process achieves saturation.

Transition and Summary

Competition for home sales from e-commerce residential real estate organizations poses increasing risks to the sustainability and profitability of traditional residential real estate organization managers (Yuan et al., 2013). The specific business problem is some traditional residential real estate organization managers do not have strategies to compete effectively with e-commerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability. Therefore,

the purpose of this qualitative descriptive case study was to explore strategies that traditional residential real estate organization managers develop and implement to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable. The target population was comprised of experienced male and female adult residential traditional real estate organization managers or real estate professionals who are implementing various strategies to compete with e-commerce real estate websites in western Nebraska.

Grounded in Rogers' (1995) diffusion of innovation theory, I explored the following research question: What strategies do some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable? Furthermore, I addressed ethical issues discussed the consent form. Data collection addressed in the following areas: collection instrument, collection technique, organizational techniques, and analysis, was a large component of the section. Finally, in Section 2, I addressed reliability and validity through dependability, creditability, transferability, and confirmability.

In Section 3, I will begin with an introduction including the purpose of the study and restating of the research question. The section continues with (a) a presentation of the findings, (b) application to the business environment, (c) implications of social change, (d) recommendations for action, and (e) any recommendations for future study. My reflections and lessons learned from the study conclude the section.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, descriptive case study was to explore strategies that traditional residential real estate organization managers develop and implement to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable. Four themes emerged from the participants' responses: (a) establish and maintain multiple e-commerce websites; (b) regularly monitor websites for buyers, sellers, and competitors; (c) establish a visible presence on multiple e-commerce websites; and (d) be prepared to evolve as technology evolves.

Presentation of the Findings

The purpose of this study was to address the following research question: What strategies do some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable?

Key Words

At the conclusion of the interviews, I generated a list of keywords from the participants' responses to the interview questions. The word *website* was the most frequently used, the word *agent* occurred 20 times, and the phrase *For Sale By Owner* occurred 18 times. A statement by Interviewee VB01 provided a clear example of how interviewees used the key words. The participant noted that "clients first look online at websites for listings then contact an agent, realtor, or *For Sale By Owner* seller." Participants also used *information* and *Facebook* frequently during the interviews. For

instance, Interviewee KL06 stated, "I constantly monitor Zillow, Facebook, and other listing websites for new listings or opportunities to collaborate with sellers in the best interest of buyers."

Participants associated the words *buyers*, *contact*, and *Zillow* with traditional residential real estate organization managers' use of e-commerce real estate organization websites. For example, Interviewee LG03 stated, "I attract buyers by paying to be a Premier Agent on Zillow and Trulia that shows my contact information, links to my listings, and displays my company logo." Additionally, Interviewee PT05 stated, "Constantly monitor Zillow, Facebook, and other listing websites for new listings or opportunities to collaborate and communicate with sellers in the best interest of buyers." Further, Interviewee VB01 noted, "It's important to have contact information on multiple websites that link or direct to professional page."

Interviewees also used the words *view*, *interest*, and *presence* regarding online advertising on various e-commerce real estate organizations. Interviewee PT05 reported, "Online presence across multiple websites is the key to success. I'm constantly monitoring of all listings to view available properties and see potential interest." Furthermore, TH02 stated, "I maintain a presence by communicating and constantly probing for listings."

Theme 1: Establish and Maintain Multiple E-commerce Websites

The first emergent theme involved establishing, maintaining, and monitoring multiple e-commerce websites. Interviewees expressed the need for an online presence

across multiple websites. As Interviewee PT05 noted, "We live in a world where online presence across multiple websites is the key to success." Additionally, every interviewee (100%) noted that establishing an online presence through professional websites and linking contact information to competing e-commerce real estate websites was vital to their success. Individuals searching for a home spend time online viewing several websites. Interviewee VB01 stated, it is "important to have contact information on multiple websites that link or direct to your professional page." Henderson and Cowart (2002) discovered residential websites offered more information in richer formats and acknowledged the trend of consumers preliminarily searching the Internet for the real estate property before contacting an agent.

Three of the interviewees (50%) regularly use Facebook on a daily basis to link to tips, listings, and services. The other interviewees use Facebook sparingly but mentioned their plans to increase usage in the near future, as Interviewee RK04 stated, "it's the current hot thing of the young people and instant information." Several online social media outlets, such as Facebook, have promoted pages and advertisements to assist with business promotions (McAllister & West, 2013). One interviewee, VB01 mentioned, "I use a company to manage Facebook, Zillow, Realtor. Post tips, reviews, and listings."

Other researchers have confirmed similar themes. For example, Tiago and Veríssimo (2014) suggested organizational leaders must adopt social media when providing information to customers and connecting with stakeholders.

The adoption of social media usage to generate sales and marketing communication integrates with digital space, creating linkages through high levels of digital marketing usage and social media interaction (Tiago & Veríssimo, 2014). Huang and Benyoucef (2013) discussed the marketability feature of social media allows for more visibility of listed property and services offered. In Table 1, I summarize the percentage of participants who mentioned the daily use and maintenance of the various websites mentioned: Zillow, Realtor, Facebook, and professional or firm website. Although every participant mentioned using all four websites, after reviewing the company documents of monthly sales figures, advertising expenses, paid online services, and website advertisements, I determined the percentages based on daily postings and updates targeted at prospective buyers and sellers to remain visible and competitive.

Table 1

Percentage of Participants Mentioning Daily Use and
Maintenance of Various Websites

Website	Percentage Using
Zillow	67%
Realtor	67%
Facebook	50%
Professional or Firm Website	100%

Theme 2: Regularly Monitor Websites for Buyers, Sellers, and Competitors

Participants also emphasized that collaboration is key to the success, and in a competitive market, traditional residential real estate organization managers need to communicate with buyers, sellers, and competitors. Interviewee PT05 explained, "I have to constantly monitor Zillow, Facebook, and other listing websites for any new listings.

Then look for other opportunities to collaborate with sellers in the best interest of buyers. It's all about working together." Furthermore, Interviewee TH02 mentioned that although they do not pay for Zillow as a Premier Agent, "there is an influx in *For Sale By Owner* and I constantly monitor the website (Zillow) for local listings."

As mentioned in the literature, an organization's ability to innovate and incorporate continuous improvement processes are significant factors in building a sustainable business and competitive advantage (Huang, Kao, Chang, & Lin, 2012). Many traditional residential real estate organization managers do not have the time to monitor the websites regularly. Hiring an assistant or company to monitor the multiple websites is a common practice. Interviewee KL06 explained his agency decided to "hire an assistant to do our marketing efforts to find a way to drum up business during a little slump." Furthermore, KL06 noted the assistant they hired, "regularly monitors this and links the listings and posts to several websites."

Additionally, four of the interviewees pay for services on Zillow and Realtor websites. As Interviewee LG03 stated, "I attract buyers by paying to be a Premier Agent on Zillow and Trulia that shows my contact information, links to my listings, and displays my company logo." In a digital world, the buyer and real estate professional need to work together to communicate in a timely and effective manner. Realtor.com has built trust between the customer and the realtor with electronic signatures to reduce wasted time of every stakeholder having to get together and sign all the documents in person (Cherif & Grant, 2014).

Every interviewee mentioned constant innovation and adaptation of new the latest technology. Furthermore, the participants held the opinion that the strategies to compete effectively with e-commerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability involved innovation. These comments tie closely to Rogers' diffusions of innovation theory (1995).

Theme 3: Establish a Visible Presence on Multiple E-commerce Websites

Several large real estate giants, such as Century 21 Real Estate LLC, are eliminating traditional television advertisements and investing in online marketing through several e-commerce websites (Scott, 2015). Interviewee TH02 remarked, "you search and connect the information online through the websites and links." Interviewee KL06 revealed:

There are four agents in our office and we wanted to brand our company and create a clear concise message. That way, when prospective buyers or sellers saw our signs they knew what to expect. She focused on the promotion of our website and created a company Facebook page.

Having one designated individual monitor and maintain a presence online creates a clear and concise message for the indented audience. Interviewee RK04 mentioned, "That's where an assistant comes in handy. Someone to handle all the Internet and online communication. That way it's consistent and responsive."

Always improving, in all ways, remains a relevant guideline for businesses and entrepreneurs to maintain sustainability in the 21st century (Shiller, 2013). Therefore, by

establishing an online presence targeted at multiple audiences, brokers effectively use innovation as a business strategy. According to Rogers' (1995) the four main elements of the diffusion of innovations theory are (a) innovation, (b) communication channels, (c) time, and (d) a social system. The monitoring and maintenance requires a balance to identify immediate and emerging opportunities to help traditional residential real estate organization managers and aligns with elements of Rogers' diffusion of innovation theory. These entrepreneurs learn to use innovation as a strategic tool of capitalism (Shiller, 2013).

The participants mentioned many effective strategies, confirmed in recent studies (Pantano & Viassone, 2014; Sawyer, Crowston, & Wigand, 2014; Scott, 2015) to remain competitive with e-commerce. These strategies included paying professional companies to establish and monitor multiple websites in addition to linking the real estate professionals' websites to various competitive websites. Further, Hajli (2013) and Huang and Benyoucef (2013) identified the benefits of using social media in addition to professional websites, validating the identified them of strategically establishing a visible presence on multiple e-commerce websites.

Theme 4: Be Prepared to Evolve as Technology Evolves

Innovation serves as a solid business strategy, requiring a process to capitalize on emerging trends such as social media usage, mobile access, and instant responses as opportunities (Shiller, 2013). The Internet is a tool used to communicate in multiple ways to multiple audiences. As technology advances through innovation, so must the

traditional residential real estate organization managers as they adapt the constant monitoring techniques used by competitors.

Three of the participants acknowledged the hiring of outside companies or firms to monitor and run their websites and Internet presence. Therefore, traditional residential real estate organization managers should use the strategy of employing a company or firm to conduct all Internet, mobile, and social media coverage. This technique involves an additional monthly expense, but as Interviewee VB01 stated the expense of the companies was minimal, "very minimal, maybe all three company comprise 10% of monthly budget expenses. I don't pay that much attention to it, so not a lot." The expenses included social media such as Facebook, technology support, and professional website maintenance.

Innovation and adaptation of new technology can occur seamlessly, by paying a company to monitor and implement the technology evolution (Pantano & Viassone, 2014). By implementing the strategy, traditional residential real estate organization managers remain focused on the customer while evolving with technology (Pantano & Viassone, 2014). Adopting an innovation from the experimental stage is cheaper, less threatening, and potentially eliminates any uncertainty in taking the risk (Ismail, 2012; Rogers, 1995). Trialability assists to confirm initial perception of benefits and risks, thus encouraging the adoption of an innovation, particularly in e-business (Banerjee, Wei, & Ma, 2012). As Interviewee LG03 mentioned, "I use it [pay for companies] as a resource or tool. That way the technology is taken care of and I can focus on the client."

Applications to Professional Practice

The applications to professional practice include strategies real estate professionals use to increase online services and connect with prospective buyers and sellers. The application of strategies include organization leaders using multiple existing professional or firm websites, allowing the organizational leaders to connect, interact, and collaborate with customers (Cherif & Grant, 2014). As Huang and Benyoucef (2013) recommended, organizational leaders consider the available e-commerce websites to determine networking capabilities before developing a social commerce strategy. The collaboration in online communities and the application of social media for open innovation among organizations occurs across multiple websites (Mount & Garcia Martinez, 2014).

The social networking availability through Facebook allows average individuals to conduct commerce and develop a relationship when looking to buy or sell a home (Huang & Benyoucef, 2013). Sellers can post pictures and information describing the available property to the website, reaching several thousand people. The sellers have the opportunity to communicate with interested parties without using a third party, such as a realtor. The establishment of a presence on multiple websites at different stages of the innovation process resides in an organization's adaptations and implementation of new technologies (Mount & Garcia Martinez, 2014). Therefore, traditional residential real estate organization managers need to (a) establish and maintain multiple e-commerce

websites; (b) regularly monitor websites and social media for buyers, sellers, and competitors; and (c) establish a visible presence on multiple e-commerce websites.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential for real estate organizational leaders to provide newly useful strategies and insights designed to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain competitive and sustain their businesses. Real estate organizational leaders may benefit from enhanced decision making, increasing prosperity for employees, families, and communities' prosperity (Labedz & Berry, 2011). Informed traditional real estate organization managers armed with new strategies increase their opportunities for continued sustainability, and profitability contributes to the prosperity of their families and local economy through job creation, innovation, and competitiveness, leading to economic growth in the local community (Shukla & Shukla, 2014). Successful traditional residential real estate organization managers may provide insight on sustaining profitability and thereby contribute to the prosperity of their employees, families, the local economy, and positive social change.

Recommendations for Action

The recommendations for action are traditional residential real estate professionals should implement the strategies identified in the themes of the study to establish or increase their online presence. When deciding to purchase a new home, 88% of individuals (an increase of 14% since 2010) using online searches when researching

the real estate market (Yuan et al., 2013). Real estate professionals continue to gain presence online, but competition from independent user-friendly websites that allow owners to create marketing materials and list the property as *For Sale by Owner* has slowed the progress (Richardson & Zumpano, 2012). In addition to implementing the suggested strategies identified in the themes, traditional residential real estate professionals should adapt to innovations in technology and constantly monitor trends to remain competitive.

I will present the data from the study to regional traditional residential real estate organization managers in western Nebraska. Furthermore, I will publish my paper in ProQuest and continue the research on the topic in various papers. Traditional residential real estate organization managers could use the data from the study to help develop professional guidebooks or best practices for overcoming barriers and effectively competing with e-commerce real estate organizations through implementing online strategies to remain competitive and profitable.

Recommendations for Further Research

Exploring the strategies some traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate organizations to remain profitable led to the discovery of several themes that future researchers should explore in greater detail. This study focused on small rural areas in western Nebraska. Future qualitative studies for the following themes could be useful (a) specifics for the creation and maintenance of professional e-commerce websites, (b) strategies used by traditional

residential real estate organization managers in urban and suburban populations outside of western Nebraska, and (c) strategies implemented by traditional residential real estate organization managers with less than 10 years of experience.

I recommend future researchers use the themes identified from this study to develop and test a strategy or practice aimed at creating and maintaining professional e-commerce websites using a quantitative methodology. Professional e-commerce websites serve as the frontline to the business or organization. Future researchers should focus on the design and maintenance of effective websites in order to determine ways real estate professionals could adapt to changes in the market and technology.

This study focused on the strategies of rural or small town traditional real estate organization managers. Future researchers should focus on strategies relevant to urban or suburban traditional residential real estate organization managers. Future researchers should also conduct a quantitative correlational study to determine the effectiveness of the recommended strategies used by traditional residential real estate organization managers in both rural and small town and urban and suburban areas. Future researchers should explore the effectiveness of new innovations used by traditional residential real estate organization managers in the real estate industry as they occur.

One limitation identified for this descriptive qualitative research design study included the participants' experience level in the real estate industry. Participants experience ranged from 5 to 25 years. The more experience the participant had the less innovative they were and relied more on word-of-mouth and repeat business. Less-

experienced participants were hungry for new and innovative ways to compete. Therefore, future researchers should explore the strategies through a qualtitative study to encourage older participants to adopt changes.

Reflections

The research process was challenging and frustrating. Originally, I had the preconceived notion to research traditional residential real estate organization managers'
lack of strategies when competing with e-commerce websites; however, after working
with several professors and my chair, addressing the effective strategies currently in place
by traditional residential real estate organization managers was determined to be the best
approach for my study. I remained optimistic regarding the semistructured interview
questions and experienced wonderful conversations, uncovering several insights and
strategies for successfully competing with e-commerce organizations. I soon realized the
benefit to a semistructured interview setting and the opportunity to have a face-to-face
conversation with the participant versus a survey or questionnaire. For example, a major
benefit of the face-to-face semistructured interviews was the opportunity to see the facial
expressions and animation in the faces of the interviewees.

Every interviewee mentioned constant innovation and adaptation of new the latest technology. Many of the participants held the opinion that the strategies to compete effectively with e-commerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability was constant concern in the industry and one must adapt to survive or be left behind. Many challenges arise with the continuous advances in technology; therefore, traditional

residential real estate organization managers expressed the need to continue to innovate and adapt to reach their customers. Additionally, several participants expressed that the solutions to the business problem reside in the collaboration with e-commerce real estate organizations

Summary and Study Conclusions

Traditional residential real estate organization managers need to develop a strategic plan to compete with e-commerce real estate website competitors. Competition for sales of homes using e-commerce real estate organizations to conduct online searches poses significant risks to the sustainability and profitability of real estate professionals. However, despite years of research, strategies traditional residential real estate organization managers use to compete with e-commerce real estate websites to remain profitable show mixed results.

I researched the subject to determine what strategies are effective in remaining competitive. The research data revealed four distinct themes that provide traditional residential real estate mangers with the strategies to consider implementing: (a) establish and maintain multiple e-commerce websites; (b) regularly monitor websites for buyers, sellers, and competitors; (c) establish a visible presence on multiple e-commerce websites; and (d) be prepared to evolve as technology evolves. The importance of maintaining an online presence is vital to the longevity of traditional residential organization managers and real estate professionals should evolve and adopt new technology to remain profitable.

References

- Abatecola, G., Caputo, A., Mari, M., & Poggesi, S. (2013). Real estate management:

 Past, present, and future research directions. *International Journal of Globalisation and Small Business*, 5, 98–113. doi:10.1504/IJGSB.2013.050485
- Ahrweiler, P., Gilbert, N., & Pyka, A. (2011). Agency and structure: A social simulation of knowledge-intensive industries. *Computational and Mathematical Organization Theory*, 17, 59–76. doi:10.1007/s10588-010-9081-3
- Aizenman, J., & Jinjarak, Y. (2014). Real estate valuation, current account and credit growth patterns, before and after the 2008–9 crisis. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 48, 249–270. doi:10.1016/j.jimonfin.2014.05.016
- Al-Jabri, I. M., & Sohail, M. S. (2012). Mobile banking adoption: Application of diffusion of innovation theory. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 13, 379–391. Retrieved from http://www.jecr.org/
- Arun, V., & George, A. B. (2011). *The diffusion of innovations: A communication science perspective*. New York, NY: Peter Lang Publishing.
- Atwong, C.T. (2015). A social media practicum: An action-learning approach to social media marketing and analytics. *Marketing Education Review*, 25, 27–31. doi:10.1080/10528008.2015.999578
- Bainbridge, R. E. (2014). The stormy future of retail real estate. *Appraisal Journal*, 82, 155–160. Retrieved from http://www.myappraisalinstitute.org
- Baldwin, C. S. (2015). The impact of web-based technology on small

- businesses. *Business and Management Studies*, *1*, 13–18. doi:10.11114/bms.v1i1.681
- Banerjee, P., Wei, K. K., & Ma, L. (2012). Role of trialability in B2B e-business adoption: theoretical insights from two case studies. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 31, 815–827. doi:10.1080/0144929X.2010.497564
- Bekhet, A. K., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2012). Methodological triangulation: An approach to understanding data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(2), 40–43. doi:10.7748/nr2012.11.20.2.40.c9442
- Benefield, J. D., Cain, C. L., & Gleason, A. (2012). Visual display of residential property information: Some additional evidence. *Journal of Real Estate Practice and Education*, *15*, 89–100. doi:10.5555/repe.15.2.d472w146p51m7617
- Beracha, E., & Wintoki, M. B. (2013). Forecasting residential real estate price changes from online search activity. *Journal of Real Estate Research*, *35*, 283–312. doi:10.5555/rees.35.3.c0ru080q45n34064
- Bernard, H. R., & Bernard, H. R. (2012). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Black, D., Palombaro, K., & Dole, R. (2013). Student experiences in creating and launching a student-led physical therapy pro bono clinic: A qualitative investigation. *Physical Therapy*, *93*, 637–685. doi:10.2522/ptj.20110430
- Blaney, J., Filer, K., & Lyon, J. (2014). Assessing high impact practices using NVivo: An automated approach to analyzing student reflections for program

- improvement. *Research & Practice in Assessment*, *9*, 97–100. Retrieved from http://www.rpajournal.com
- Bluhm, D. J., Harman, W., Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (2011). Qualitative research in management: A decade of progress. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48, 1866–1891. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00972.x
- Bock, A. J., Opsahl, T., George, G., & Gann, D. M. (2011). The effects of culture and structure on strategic flexibility during business model innovation. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49, 279–305. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2011.01030.x
- Borrego, M., Froyd, J. E., & Hall, T. S. (2010). Diffusion of engineering education innovations: A survey of awareness and adoption rates in U.S. engineering departments. *Journal of Engineering Education*, *99*, 185–207. doi:10.1002/j.2168- 9830.2010.tb01056.x
- Bruce, M., & Solomon, M. R. (2013). Managing for media anarchy: A corporate marketing perspective. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, *21*, 307–318. doi:10.2753/MTP1069-6679210305
- Cajias, M., Geiger, P., & Bienert, S. (2012). Green agenda and green performance:

 Empirical evidence for real estate companies. *Journal of European Real Estate*Research, 5, 135–155. doi:10.1108/17539261211250717
- Cakar, N. D., & Erturk, A. (2010). Comparing innovation capabilities of small and medium-sized enterprises: Examining the effects of organizational culture and

- empowerment. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *48*, 325–359. doi:10.1111/j.1540-627x.2010.00297.x
- Cameron, K. (2011). Responsible leadership as virtuous leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 98, 25–35. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1023-6
- Campbell, D., & Stanley, J. (2010). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research. Mason, OH: Cengage Learning.
- Carlo, J. L., Lyytinen, K., & Rose, G. M. (2012). A knowledge-based model of radical innovation in small software firms. *MIS Quarterly*, *36*, 865–A10. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Carlson, J. A. (2010). Avoiding traps in member checking. *Qualitative Report*, *15*, 1102–1113. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu
- Casson, M. (2005). Entrepreneurship and the theory of the firm. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, *58*, 327–348. doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2004.05.007
- Chang, Y. T., Yu, H., & Lu, H. P. (2015). Persuasive messages, popularity cohesion, and message diffusion in social media marketing. *Journal of Business Research*, 68, 777–782. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.11.027
- Chatterjee, S., Merhout, J. W., Sarker, S., & Lee, A. S. (2013). An examination of the electronic market hypothesis in the US home mortgage industry: A deductive case study. *Information Technology & People*, 26, 4–27. doi:10.1108/09593841311307114
- Cherif, E., & Grant, D. (2014). Analysis of e-business models in real estate. *Electronic*

- Commerce Research, 14, 25-50. doi:10.1007/s10660-013-9126-z
- Cheung, C. M., & Thadani, D. R. (2012). The impact of electronic word-of-mouth communication: A literature analysis and integrative model. *Decision Support Systems*, *54*, 461–470. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2012.06.008
- Choi, H., & Varian, H. (2012). Predicting the present with Google trends. *Economic Record*, 88, 2–9. doi:10.1111/j.1475-4932.2012.00809.x
- Christensen, C. M. (2011). *The innovator's dilemma*. New York, NY: HarperCollins Publishers.
- Cole, C., Chase, S., Couch, O., & Clark, M. (2011). Research methodologies and professional practice: Considerations and practicalities. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *9*, 141–151. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Cope, D. G., (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 89–91.doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Crowe, C., Dell'Ariccia, G., Igan, D., & Rabanal, P. (2013). How to deal with real estate booms: Lessons from country experiences. *Journal of Financial Stability*, *9*, 300–319. Retrieved from http://www.kdi.re.kr/data/download/attach/9391_3-1[1].pdf
- Das, L. (2012). Growing trends of e-commerce and its role in consumers' buying pattern.
 International Journal of Marketing, Financial Services & Management Research,
 1, 200–209. Retrieved from
 - http://indianresearchjournals.com/pdf/IJMFSMR/2012/October/17.pdf

- Daugherty, T., & Hoffman, E. (2014). WOM and the importance of capturing consumer attention within social media. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 20, 82–120. doi:10.1080/13527266.2013.797764
- DeLisle, J., Grissom, T., & Högberg, L. (2013). Sustainable real estate: An empirical study of the behavioural response of developers and investors to the LEED rating system. *Journal of Property Investment & Finance*, *31*, 10–40. doi:10.1108/14635781311292953
- Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation 2.0. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6, 80–88. doi:10.1177/1558689812437186
- Draper, A., & Swift, J. A. (2011). Qualitative research in nutrition and dietetics: Data collection issues. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, *24*, 3–12. doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2010.01117.x
- Edelstein, R., Liu, P., & Wu, F. (2012). The market for real estate presales: A theoretical approach. *Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics*, 45, 30–48. doi:10.1007/s11146-011-9318-z
- Eida, R., & El-Goharyb, H. (2013). The impact of e-marketing use on small business enterprises' marketing success. *Service Industries Journal*, *33*(1), 31–50. doi:10.1080/02642069.2011.594878
- El-Gohary, H. (2012). Factors affecting e-marketing adoption and implementation in tourism firms: An empirical investigation of Egyptian small tourism

- organizations. *Tourism Management*, *33*, 1256–1269. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2011.10.013
- Ersoz, F., & Karaman, A. (2011). Development of defense capabilities from an innovation perspective: The case of Turkey. *Journal of Economics Corporation and Development*, *32*, 19–38. Retrieved from http://w.oicvet.org/jecd/jecd_articles/ART10082801-2.pdf
- Ettlie, J. E., & Rosenthal, S. R. (2011). Service versus manufacturing innovation. *Journal of Production Innovation*, 28, 285–299. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5885.2011.00797.x
- Evangelista, R., Lucchese, M., & Meliciani, V. (2013). Business service, innovation and sectoral growth. *Structural Change and Economics Dynamics*, *25*, 119–132. doi:10.1016/j.strueco.2012.02-005
- Feuerverger, A., He, Y., & Khatri, S. (2012). Statistical significance of the Netflix challenge. *Statistical Science*, *27*(2), 202–231. doi:10.1214/11-STS368
- Fiaidhi, J., Shakeri, N., Mohammed, S., & Tai-hoon, K. (2014). Collaborative filtering methods for identifying relevant adverts to a real estate mobile agents.

 International Journal of U- & E-Service, Science & Technology, 7, 171–185.

 doi:10.14257/ijunnesst.2014.7.4.17
- Floreddu, P. B., Cabiddu, F., & Evaristo, R. (2014). Inside your social media ring: How to optimize online corporate reputation. *Business Horizons*, *57*, 737–745. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2014.07.007
- Freeman, M. (2012). To adopt or not to adopt innovation: A case study of team-based

- learning. *International Journal of Management Education*, 10, 155–168 doi:10.1016/j.ijme.2012.06.002
- Friese, S. (2014). Qualitative data analysis with ATLAS.ti. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Gama, N., McKenna, S., & Peticca-Harris, A. (2012). Ethics and HRM: Theoretical and conceptual analysis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *111*, 97–108. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1479-z
- Gay, S., & Zhang, A. T. (2014). Expertise value added in the real estate market. *Housing Law and Policy*, 20, 1–28. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2515157
- Gerdes, A., & Øhrstrøm, P. (2011). The role of credibility in the design of mobile solutions to enhance the social skill-set of teenagers diagnosed with autism.

 Journal of Information, Communication, & Ethics in Society, 9, 253–264.

 doi:10.1108/14779961111191057
- Gibb, K., & Pryce, G. (2012). Future directions in housing economics: Introduction to a special issue of the Journal of Property Research. *Journal of Property**Research*, 29(4), 271–279. doi:10.1080/09599916.2012.731720
- Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., & Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: Interviews and focus groups. *British Dental Journal*, *204*, 291–295. doi:10.1038/bdj.2008.192
- Goodwin, K. R., & Stetelman, S. E. (2013). Perspectives on technology change and the marketing of real estate. *Journal of Housing Research*, 22(2), 91–107. doi:10.5555/jhor.22.2.m117379444424q10

- Green, S.B., & Salkind, N.J. (2014). *Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Understanding and analyzing data* (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education
- Greenhalgh, T., Robert, G., Macfarlane, F., Bate, P., & Kyriakidou, O. (2004). Diffusion of innovation in service organizations: Systematic review and recommendations.

 Milbank Quarterly, 82, 581–629. doi:10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00325.x*
- Greve, H. R. (2011). Fast and expensive: The diffusion of a disappointing innovation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 32(9), 949–968. http://doi.org/10.1002/smj.922
- Gundlach, G. T., & Murphy, P. E. (1993). Ethical and legal foundations of relational marketing exchanges. *Journal of Marketing*, *57*, 35–46. Retrieved from http://www.unf.edu/~ggundlac/pdfs/pub_43.pdf
- Hajli, M. N. (2013). A study of the impact of social media on consumers. *International Journal of Market Research*, *56*, 387–404. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2014-025
- Hassan, H. S., Shehab, E., & Peppard, J. (2011). Recent advances in e-service in the public sector: State-of-the-art and future trends. *Business Process Management Journal*, 17, 526–545. doi:10.1108/14637151111136405
- Henderson, K. V., & Cowart, L. B. (2002). Bucking e-commerce trends: A content analysis comparing commercial real estate brokerage and residential real estate brokerage websites. *Journal of Corporate Real Estate*, 4, 375–385. doi:10.1108/14630010210811967
- Ho, H., Chang, C., & Ku, C. (2015). House selection via the Internet by considering

- homebuyers' risk attitudes with S-shaped utility functions. *European Journal of Operational Research*, *241*, 188–201. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2014.08.009
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Inquirers*, 20(4), 12–19. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hsiung, H. (2012). Authentic leadership and employee voice behavior: A multi-level psychological process. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *107*, 349–361. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1043-2
- Huang, J.-L., Kao, F. C., Chang, J., & Lin, S. P. (2012). Why can technology continue to be innovated. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, *4*(3), 43–83. Retrieved from http://ijoi.fp.expressacademic.org/
- Huang, Z., & Benyoucef, M. (2013). From e-commerce to social commerce: A close look at design features. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 12, 246– 259. doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2012.12.003
- Hurt, R. L., & McLaughlin, E. J. (2012). An applied introduction to qualitative research methods in academic advising. *NACADA Journal*, *32*, 63–71. Retrieved from http://www.nacada.ksu.edu
- Ihantola, E. & Kihn, L. (2011). Threats to validity and reliability in mixed methods accounting research. *Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management*, 8, 39–58. doi:10.1108/11766091111124694

- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2013). 'Am I not answering your questions properly?' Clarification, adequacy and responsiveness in semi-structured telephone and face-to-face interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 87–106. doi:10.1177/1468794112439086
- Ismail, A. R. (2012). Understanding the factors that affect the adoption of innovative high-technology brands: The case of apple iPhone in Malaysia. *Journal of Global Marketing*, *25*, 226–239. doi:10.1080/08911762.2012.753564
- Janson, M., & Cecez-Kecmanovic, D. (2005). Making sense of e-commerce as social action. *Information Technology & People*, 18, 311–342. doi:10.1108/09593840510633301
- Joffe, H. (2011). Thematic analysis. In D. Harper & A. R. Thompson (Eds.), *Qualitative* research methods in mental health and psychotherapy: A guide for students and practitioners (pp. 209–223). doi:10.1002/9781119973249.ch15
- Jun, S., & Park, S. S. (2013). Examining technological innovation of Apple using patent analysis. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 113, 890–907. doi:0.1108/IMDS-01-2013-0032
- Jung, Y., & Pawlowski, S. D. (2014). Virtual goods, real goals: Exploring means-end goal structures of consumers in social virtual worlds. *Information & Management*, 51, 520–531. doi:10.1016/j.im.2014.03.002
- Kendall, E. K., & Kendall, E. J. (2010). *System design and analysis* (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Kesharwani, A., & Bisht, S. S. (2012). The impact of trust and perceived risk on internet banking adoption in India: An extension of technology acceptance model. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 30, 303–322.

 doi:10.1108/02652321211236923
- Kietzmann, J. H., Hermkens, K., McCarthy, I. P., & Silvestre, B. S. (2011). Social media? Get serious! Understanding the functional building blocks of social media. *Business Horizons*, *54*, 241–251. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2011.01.005
- Kumar, B. (2014). Impact of digital marketing and e-commerce on the real estate industry. *International Journal of Research in Business Management*, 7, 17–22. Retrieved from http://www.impactjournals.us/
- Labedz, C. S., & Berry, G. R. (2011). Making sense of small business growth: A right

 WorkForce template for growing firms. *Journal of Applied Management and*Entrepreneurship, 16(2), 61–79. Retrieved from www.huizenga.nova.edu/Jame/
- Lee, Y., & Tan, Y. (2013). Effects of different types of free trials and ratings in sampling of consumer software: An empirical study. *Journal of Management Information*Systems, 30, 213–246. doi:10.2753/MIS0742-1222300308
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2005). *Practical research: Planning and design* (8th ed.).

 Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Leonard, J. (2014). Cross-cultural communities of practice for college readiness. *Teacher Development*, 18, 511–529. doi:10.1080/13664530.2014.941114
- Lervik Olsen, L., Witell, L., & Gustafsson, A. (2014). Turning customer satisfaction

- measurements into action. *Journal of Service Management*, *25*, 556–571. doi:10.1108/JOSM-01-2014-0025
- Li, S., Li, J. Z., He, H., Ward, P., & Davies, B. J. (2011). WebDigital: A web-based hybrid intelligent knowledge automation system for developing digital marketing strategies. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *38*(8), 10606–10613. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2011.02.128
- Lin, T. T. C., Chiu, V. C. H., & Lim, W. (2011). Factors affecting the adoption of social network sites: Examining four adopter categories of Singapore's working adults.
 Asian Journal of Communication, 21, 221–242.
 doi:10.1080/01292986.2011.559256
- Love, P. E., Goh, Y. M., Hogg, K., Robson, S., & Irani, Z. (2011). Burnout and sense of coherence among residential real estate brokers. *Safety Science*, *49*, 1297–1308. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2011.04.009
- Mahdjoubi, L., Moobela, C., & Laing, R. (2013). Providing real-estate services through the integration of 3D laser scanning and building information modelling.
 Computers in Industry, 64, 1272–1281. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2013.09.003
- Mahoney, J., & Goertz, G. (2006). A tale of two cultures: Contrasting qualitative and quantitative. *Political Analysis*, *14*, 227–249. doi:10.1093/pan.mpj017
- Malik, M., & Usman, A. (2011). Role overload, job satisfaction and their effect on layoff survivor's job retention and productivity. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, 2, 427–440. Retrieved from

- http://ijcrb.webs.com
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). *Designing qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 11(3), 1–20. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net
- Maxwell, J.A. (2012). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach: An interactive approach.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McAllister, M. P., & West, E. (2013). *The Routledge companion to advertising and promotional culture*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- McCaslin, M. L., & Scott, K. W. (2003). The five-question method for framing a qualitative research study. *Qualitative Report*, 8, 447–461. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR8-3/mccaslin.pdf
- Merriam, S. B. (2014). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Mohamad, W., Ramli, N. M., Shuib, N., & Sulaiman, T. F. T. (2015). Power and influence A case study of leaders in real estate company. *American Journal of Economics*, 5, 231–235. doi:10.5923/c.economics.201501.29
- Morse, J. M., Barrett, M., Mayan, M., Olson, K., & Spiers, J. (2008). Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *1*, 13–22. Retrieved from

- https://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca
- Morris, L. (2013). Three dimensions of innovation. *International Management Review*, 9, 5–10. Retrieved from http://www.usimr.org
- Mount, M., & Garcia Martinez, M. (2014). Social media: A tool for open innovation.

 *California Management Review, 56, 124–143. doi:10.1525/cmr.2014.56.4.124
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Muhanna, W. (2000). E-commerce in the real estate brokerage industry. *Journal of Real Estate Practice and Education*, 3, 1–16. doi:10.5555/repe.3.1.p166q6hj07284290
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). 'Unsatisfactory saturation': A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 13, 190–197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Ogawa, S., & Pongtanalert, K. (2013). Exploring characteristics and motives of consumer innovators: Community innovators vs. independent innovators. *Research Technology Management*, *56*(3), 41–48. doi:10.5437/08956308X5603088
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533–544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pantano, E., & Viassone, M. (2014). Demand pull and technology push perspective in technology-based innovations for the points of sale: The retailers evaluation. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 21, 43–47.

- doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2013.06.007
- Perry, C. (1998). Processes of a case study methodology for postgraduate research in marketing. *European Journal of Marketing*, *32*(9/10), 785–802. doi:10.1108/03090569810232237
- Petrick, I. J., & Martinelli, R. (2012). Driving disruptive innovation. *Research Technology Management*, 55, 49–57. doi:10.5437/08956308X5506902
- Rapp, A., Beitelspacher, L. S., Grewal, D., & Hughes, D. E. (2013). Understanding social media effects across seller, retailer, and consumer interactions. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 41, 547–566. doi:10.1007/s11747-013-0326-9
- Ratcliff, R., & Doshi, K. (2013). Using the Bass Model to analyze the diffusion of innovations at the base of the pyramid. *Business & Society*, *55*, 271–291 doi:10.1177/0007650313479529
- Reilly, R. C. (2013). Found poems, member checking and crises of representation.

 *Qualitative Report, 18, 1–18. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu
- Reiner, B. (2011). Optimizing technology development and adoption in medical imaging using the principles of innovation diffusion, part 1: Theological, historical, and contemporary considerations. *Journal of Digital Imaging*, *24*, 750–753. doi:10.1007/s10278- 011-9397-7
- Reybold, L. E., Lammert, J. D., & Stribling, S. M. (2013). Participant selection as a conscious research method: Thinking forward and the deliberation of "Emergent" findings. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 699–716. doi:10.1177/146879411246563

- Richardson, H., & Zumpano, L. (2012). Further assessment of the efficiency effects of Internet use in home search. *Journal of Real Estate Research*, *34*, 515–548.

 Retrieved from http://aresjournals.org/loi/rees
- Rietsema, K. W., & Watkins, D. V. (2012). Beyond leadership. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 22–30. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com/journals/Vol_3_No_4_Special_Issue_February_2012/
- Rogers, E. (1995). Diffusion of innovations (4th ed.) New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Roulston, K. (2010). Considering quality in qualitative interviewing. *Qualitative Research*, 10, 199–228. doi:10.1177/1468794109356739
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35, 260–271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Rutherford, R., & Yavas, A. (2012). Discount brokerage in residential real estate markets.

 Real Estate Economics, 40, 508–535. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6229.2011.00319.x
- Ryan, L. (2013). Leading change through creative destruction: How Netflix's self destructive-start strategy created its market. *International Journal of Business Innovation and Research*, 7, 429–445. doi:10.1504/IJBIR.2013.054868
- Saldaña, J. (2015). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Sandelowski, M., & Leeman, J. (2012). Writing usable qualitative health research findings. *Qualitative Health Research*, 22, 1404–1413. doi:10.1177/1049732312450368
- Sang, M., Lee, D. L., & Trimi, S. (2012). Co-innovation: Convergenomics collaboration and co-creation for organizational value. *Management Decision*, 50, 817–831. doi:10.1108/00251741211227528
- Savrul, M., & Kılıç, C. (2011). E-commerce as an alternative strategy in recovery from the recession. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *24*, 247–259. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.09.05
- Sawyer, S., Crowston, K., & Wigand, R. T. (2014). Digital assemblages: Evidence and theorising from the computerisation of the US residential real estate industry. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 29, 40–56. doi:10.1111/ntwe.12020
- Scherbina, A., & Schlusche, B. (2012). Asset bubbles: an application to residential real estate. *European Financial Management*, *18*, 464–491. doi:10.1111/j.1468-036X.2012.00647.x
- Scott, D. M. (2015). The new rules of marketing and PR: How to use social media, online video, mobile applications, blogs, news releases, and viral marketing to reach buyers directly. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Seiler, M. J., Madhavan, P., & Liechty, M. (2012). Toward an understanding of real estate homebuyer Internet search behavior: An application of ocular tracking technology. *Journal of Real Estate Research*, *34*, 211–241. Retrieved from

- http://aresjournals.org/loi/rees
- Shahrokhi, M. (2008). E-finance: Status, innovations, resources and future challenges. *Managerial Finance*, *34*, 365–398. doi:10.1108/03074350810872787
- Sharma, G., & Lijuan, W. (2014). Ethical perspectives on e-commerce: An empirical investigation. *Internet Research*, 24, 414–435. doi:10.1108/IntR-07-2013-0162
- Shiller, R. J. (2013). Capitalism and financial innovation. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 69, 21–25. Retrieved from http://www.cfapubs.org/loi/faj
- Shobeiri, S., Mazaheri, E., & Laroche, M. (2014). Improving customer website involvement through experiential marketing. *Service Industries Journal*, *34*, 885–900. doi:10.1080/02642069.2014.915953
- Shukla, P. K., & Shukla, M. P. (2014). Small business survival index traction and movement in rankings of states (2000–2013). *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, *12*, 153–158. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/journal-of-business-economicsresearchjber/
- Shy, O. (2010). Real estate brokers and commission: Theory and calibrations. *Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics*, 45, 982–1004. doi:10.1007/s11146-010-9296-6
- Sinkovics, R. R., & Alfoldi, E. A. (2012). Progressive focusing and trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Management International Review*, *52*, 817–845. doi:10.1007/s11575-012-0140-5

- Smith, J., & Firth, J. (2011). Qualitative data analysis: The framework approach. *Nurse Researcher*, *18*(2), 52–62. Retrieved from http://rcnpublishing.com/journal/nr
- Soderhölm, H. M., & Sonnenwald, D. H. (2010). Visioning future emergency health care collaboration: Perspective from large and small medical centers. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 61, 1808–1823. doi:10.1002/asi.21365
- Soyeh, K. W., Wiley, J. A., & Johnson, K. H. (2014). Do buyer incentives work for houses during a real estate downturn? *Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics*, 48, 380–396. doi:10.1007/s11146-012-9394-8
- Stamsø, M. A. (2015). Selling a house and the decision to use a real estate broker in Norway. *Property Management*, *33*, 173–186. doi:10.1108/PM-01-2014-0006
- Sun, Y. & Ifeanyi, O. (2014). A qualitative study of e-business adoption in the real estate sector in China. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 2, 64–69. doi:10.4236/jss.2014.23012
- Swilley, E., Hofacker, C. F., & Lamont, B. T. (2012). The evolution from e-commerce to m-commerce: Pressures, firm capabilities and competitive advantage in strategic decision making. *International Journal of E-Business Research*, 8, 1–16. doi:10.4018/jebr.2012010101
- Taylor, E., & Hignett, S. (2014). Evaluating evidence: Defining levels and quality using critical appraisal mixed methods tools. *Health Environments Research & Design Journal (HERD)*, 7, 144–151. doi:10.1177/193758671400700310

- Terjesen, S., & Sullivan, S. E. (2011). The role of developmental relationships in the transition to entrepreneurship: A qualitative study and agenda for future research.

 Career Development International, 16, 482–506.

 doi:10.1108/13620431111168895
- Theodosiou, M., & Katsikea, E. (2012). Antecedents and performance of electronic business adoption in the hotel industry. *European Journal of Marketing*, 24(1/2). doi:10.1108/03090561211189329
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*, 151–155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Tiago, M.T.P.M.B., & Veríssimo, J.M.C. (2014). Digital marketing and social media: Why bother? *Business Horizons*, *57*, 703–708. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2014.07.002
- Timmermans, S., & Tavory, I. (2012). Theory construction in qualitative research from grounded theory to abductive analysis. *Sociological Theory*, *30*(3), 167–186. doi:10.1177/0735275112457914
- Tower-Richardi, S. M., Brunyé, T. T., Gagnon, S. A., Mahoney, C. R., & Taylor, H. A. (2014). Living the high life: Social status influences real estate decision making. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 44, 611–621. doi:10.1111/jasp.12253
- Tuan, L. T., & Venkatesh, S. (2010). Organizational culture and technological innovation adoption in private hospitals. *International Business Research*, *3*(3), 144–15. doi:10.5539/ibr.v3n3p144

- Turner, P. K., & Norwood, K. M. (2013). Body of research: Impetus, instrument, and impediment. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 19, 696–711. doi:10.1177/1077800413500928
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont Report* (45 CFR 46).

 Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Vinerean, S. (2013). The effects of social media marketing on online consumer behavior. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 66–79.

 doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n14p66
- Walshe, C. (2011). The evaluation of complex interventions in palliative care: An exploration of the potential of case study research strategies. *Palliative Medicine*, 25, 774–781. doi:10.1177/0269216311419883
- Wiley, J. A., Waller, B., & Brastow, R. (2013). Two sides of dual agency: Evidence from homebuyers and transactions. *Journal of Property Research*, 30, 47–66. doi:10.1080/09599916.2012.717538
- Woodward, A., Fyfe, M., Handuleh, J., Patel, P., Godman, B., Leather, A., & Finlayson, A. (2014). Diffusion of e-health innovations in "post-conflict" settings: A qualitative study on the personal experiences of health workers. *Human**Resources for Health, 12(1), 22. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-12-22
- Wu, L., & Brynjolfsson, E. (2014). The future of prediction: How Google searches foreshadow housing prices and sales. In A. Goldfarb, S. M. Greenstein, & C. E. Tucker (Eds.), *Economic analysis of the digital economy* (pp. 89–118). Chicago IL: University of Chicago Press.

- Yen, Y. S. (2015). Managing perceived risk for customer retention in e-commerce: The role of switching costs. *Information & Computer Security*, 23, 145–160. doi:10.1108/ICS-12-2013-0088
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yiwei, W., & Hui, L. (2013). Study on the influence factors of e-commerce application on the business model of Chinese real estate enterprises. *International Journal of U- & E-Service, Science & Technology*, 6, 181–198. Retrieved from http://www.sersc.org/journals/IJUNESST/vol6_no4/15.pdf
- Yoo, C. W., Sanders, G. L., & Moon, J. (2013). Exploring the effect of e-WOM participation on e-loyalty in e-commerce. *Decision Support Systems*, *55*, 669–678. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2013.02.001
- Yuan, X., Lee, J. H., Kim, S. J., Kim, Y. H. (2013). Toward a user-oriented recommendation system for real estate websites. *Information Systems*, *38*, 231–243. doi:10.1016/j.is.2012.08.004
- Zheng, H., Hung, J. L., Lin, Z., & Wu, J. (2015). The value of guarantee in service e-commerce. *Nankai Business Review International*, 6, 82–102. doi:10.1108/NBRI-03-2014-0019
- Zhitomirsky-Geffet, M., & Maman, Y. (2014). "Wisdom of the crowds" and online information reliability: A case study of Israeli real estate websites. *Online Information Review*, *38*, 417–435. doi:10.1108/OIR-07-2013-0176

Appendix A: Invitation and Consent Form

INVITATION and CONSENT FORM

I am inviting you to take part in a research study of Strategies for Real Estate

Professionals to Compete With Internet Organizations about strategies traditional
residential real estate organization managers implement to compete with the increase in
e-commerce real estate organizations' websites sales. I obtained your name/contact info
via your website. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to
understand this study before deciding whether to take part. Jennifer Dorwart, a Doctoral
Student at Walden University, is conducting this study.

Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to explore the experiences and strategies of traditional residential real estate organization managers implement to compete with the increase in e-commerce real estate organizations' websites sales. Study participants will include a purposeful sample of at least six adult male and female traditional real estate office managers, in a defined geographic area of four counties in Western Nebraska, at least 25 years old, with at least 5 years' experience in developing strategies to address the online agencies in the real estate industry. The real estate professionals must have sold a home in the past 5 years.

Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to voluntarily participate in an audio taped 30-45 minute interview regarding strategies to compete with e-commerce

websites. Additionally, you will be asked to answer the interview questions honestly. The following are some examples of some sample questions: (a) what strategies have you implemented to compete with the increase in e-commerce real estate websites, (b) how did you implement the strategies, and (c) what barriers did you encounter in implementing the strategies. Following the interview, I will transcribe the data and audio record the interview data for your 30-40 minute review and validation.

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you choose to be in the study. No one will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind later. You may stop at any time.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing. The study could potentially benefit traditional residential real estate organization managers by implementing new competitive strategies.

Payment:

No incentive will be offered for voluntarily participating in the study.

Privacy:

Any information you provide will be kept confidential and anonymous. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that

could identify you in the study reports. The researcher will keep your personal information and data confidential. Data will be kept secure by creating folders that only the researcher will have access to. Data will be kept for a period of 5 years, required by the university.

Contacts and Questions:

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher (Jennifer Dorwart) via email: jennifer.dorwart@waldenu.edu or phone: 308-249-4697. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University representative who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is 06-29-16-0497369 and it expires on June 28, 2017.

The researcher will give you a copy of this form to keep.

Obtaining Your Consent

If you feel you understand the study well enough to make a decision about it, please indicate your consent by signing below.

I understand that I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Printed Name of Participant	
Date of consent	
Participant's Signature	
Researcher's Signature	

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Date:	Location:
Interviewer: _	Interviewee:
Instructions:	
1.	Introduce self to interviewee.
2.	Explain the purpose of the study to the interviewee.
3.	Present consent form, go over contents, answer questions and
	concerns of interviewee, and assure confidentiality.
4.	Turn on recording device.
5.	Follow procedure to introduce interviewee with pseudonym/coded
	identification.
6.	Begin interview with same question order.
7.	Follow up with additional questions.
8.	End interview sequence; explain and discuss member checking
	with interviewee.

9. Thank the interviewee for their part in the study.

118

Appendix C: Invitation Letter

I am a doctoral student conducting research on the strategies traditional residential

real estate organization managers implement to compete with the increase in e-commerce

real estate organizations' websites sales, and I would greatly appreciate your participation

for my study through participating in a short confidential interview. The interview should

not take much of your time and responses will be used for no other purpose other than

academic research. The information gathered during the interview will collect your name

on the invitation and consent form, but it will not be shared. Additionally, for privacy all

answers and your name will stay on a flash drive in a locked filing cabinet in my home

office.

Your assistance in helping me complete my doctoral research is greatly

appreciated and the results of this research project will be available once the study is

completed and published. If you are interested in participating, please contact me via

phone XXXXXXXXX, or e-mail: XXXXXXXXX

Thank you for your consideration,

Jennifer Dorwart

Appendix D: Interview Questions

Interview questions include the following:

- 1. What strategies have you implemented to compete with the increase in ecommerce real estate websites?
- 2. How did you implement the strategies?
- 3. What barriers did you encounter in implementing the strategies?
- 4. How were you able to address the barriers?
- 5. How do you measure the success of your strategies to address competition from the real estate websites?
- 6. Do you have anything to add to strategies to compete effectively with ecommerce real estate organizations to maintain profitability?